Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: December 22, 2014 REVISED: February 23, 2015 ACCEPTED: March 2, 2015 PUBLISHED: March 24, 2015

# Unravelling holographic entanglement entropy in higher spin theories

## Alejandra Castro and Eva Llabrés

Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Amsterdam, Science Park 904, Postbus 94485, 1090 GL Amsterdam, The Netherlands

*E-mail:* acastro@uva.nl, e.m.llabres@uva.nl

ABSTRACT: There are two proposals that compute holographic entanglement entropy in AdS<sub>3</sub> higher spin theories based on  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  Chern-Simons theory. We show explicitly that these two proposals are equivalent. We also designed two methods that solve systematically the equations for arbitrary N. For finite charge backgrounds in AdS<sub>3</sub>, we find exact agreement between our expressions and the short interval correction of the entanglement entropy for an excited state in a CFT<sub>2</sub>.

KEYWORDS: Higher Spin Gravity, AdS-CFT Correspondence, Higher Spin Symmetry, Chern-Simons Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 1410.2870



## Contents

1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	The shortest introduction to $AdS_3$ higher spin gravity	2
3	Wilson lines in $\mathrm{SL}(N,\mathbb{R})$ Chern-Simons	3
	3.1 Wilson line and massive particles	4
	3.2 Path integral representation of the Wilson line	5
	3.2.1 On-shell action	7
	3.3 Lines: entanglement entropy	9
	3.3.1 Primary ordering	10
	3.3.2 The proof	11
	3.4 Loops: thermal entropy	14
4	Entanglement entropy on finite charge backgrounds	16
	4.1 Method I	16
	4.1.1 Example: $SL(3)$ excited states	18
	4.2 Method II	20
5	Discussion	22
Α	Conventions for $sl(N,\mathbb{R})$ algebra	24
	A.1 Further identities	26
в	Representation theory of simple Lie algebras	27
$\mathbf{C}$	Details on section 3.3.2	28
D	Non-principal embedding	29

## 1 Introduction

Entanglement entropy is an interesting probe in a holographic setup: it is a boundary observable that directly probes the local geometrical data of the bulk gravitational theory. Holographic entanglement entropy might describe how geometry emerges in a classical theory of gravity from a quantum theory.

There are, however, many gravitational theories where the notion of local geometrical quantities is rather unnatural. Higher spin theories, as originally formulated by Vasiliev, are such a class of gravitational theories with non-local interactions among a generically infinite tower of fields. The enlarged gauge redundancies of the fields act nontrivially and unfamiliarly on the metric; the usual Riemannian definitions fall short for these theories. Nevertheless, these theories do have a seemingly healthy dual description in terms of a CFT. In this case, entropy (either thermal or from entanglement) in the dual theory will provide guidance: the object that captures holographic entanglement entropy in higher spin theories can give a generalized definition of geometry. One of the goals of this program is to quantify this new definition and its possible repercussions.

Progress has been made towards this direction. For a simple class of higher spin theories based on three dimensional  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  Chern-Simons theory, there are two proposals for what is the appropriate object that captures entanglement entropy [1, 2]. Both of these proposals consider a Wilson line as the correct object that replaces the notion of geodesic length. In [2] one of the key ingredients was to search for a composite line operator that was invariant under local Lorentz transformations. In [1] the goal was to design a Wilson line that captured the dynamics of a massive particle. The details of each proposal are rather different, but there was some evidence that both were equivalent since the reported results for SL(3) higher spin gravity are the same at leading order in the coupling. Here we will *prove* why and how they agree.

In order to construct our proof, the first step will be to generalize the proposal of [1] to  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  Chern-Simons.<sup>1</sup> This is done in section 3. We will give an explicit construction of the Wilson line, and in this process we will discuss how to evaluate the saddle point value of the operator. These methods depend on the representation used for the background connections. It turns out, that the composite operator constructed in [2] is a clever way to get the final answer. The authors in [2] were only guided by symmetries and consistency conditions, which shows that, in this particular case, simple physical requirements on the observable are enough to capture the dynamics.

In section 4, we develop as well two methods to explicitly evaluate the Wilson line as a function of the background  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  fields. The first method uses the fundamental representation of the algebra. It has the advantage that it gives an exact answer for any range of the parameters, but it is somewhat tedious to extract certain features from the answer. The second method relies on a small interval expansion of the composite Wilson line defined in [2]. This small interval expansion captures first correction to the relative entropy of a pure state with respect to the vacuum. The result is well known to be universal in a CFT<sub>2</sub> [3], and our results match up perfectly with this universality for any value of N. We end our discussion with some open questions in section 5.

## 2 The shortest introduction to AdS<sub>3</sub> higher spin gravity

The simplest way to craft a higher spin theory follows from the famous observation that three dimensional Einstein gravity with a negative cosmological constant can be reformulated as a  $SL(2, \mathbb{R}) \times SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  Chern-Simons theory [4, 5]. By simply taking instead the gauge group to be  $SL(N, \mathbb{R}) \times SL(N, \mathbb{R})$ , we will produce a non-trivial theory for symmetric tensors of spin s = 2, 3, ..., N [6].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Our generalization will not only include a massive representation, but a large class of unitary representations that carry higher spin charges.

The action of the  $SL(N, \mathbb{R}) \times SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  Chern-Simons theory is given by

$$S = S_{CS}[A] - S_{CS}[\bar{A}], \quad S_{CS}[A] = \frac{k}{4\pi} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \operatorname{tr}\left(A \wedge dA + \frac{2}{3}A \wedge A \wedge A\right).$$
(2.1)

Here  $\mathcal{M}$  is the 3-manifold that supports the  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$  algebra valued connections A and  $\overline{A}$ , and the trace 'tr' denotes the invariant quadratic form of the Lie algebra as defined in appendix A. The equations of motion following from (2.1) are

$$dA + A \wedge A = 0, \quad d\bar{A} + \bar{A} \wedge \bar{A} = 0.$$
(2.2)

The metric and higher spin fields are obtained from the Chern-Simons connection as symmetric, traceless tensors that transform in the spin s representation of  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ . For example, the metric and the spin three field can be expressed as follows

$$g_{\mu\nu} \sim \operatorname{tr}(e_{\mu}e_{\nu}) , \quad \phi_{\mu\nu\rho} \sim \operatorname{tr}(e_{(\mu}e_{\nu}e_{\rho})) , \qquad (2.3)$$

where, in line with the pure gravity case, one defines

$$e = \frac{\ell}{2} \left( A - \bar{A} \right), \qquad (2.4)$$

and we introduced the AdS radius  $\ell$ . The metric and higher spin fields can then be expressed in terms of trace invariants of the vielbein [7, 8], with the total number of inequivalent invariants being N - 1 for  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$ . This definition for metric-like fields is appropriate for the principal embedding of  $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$  in  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$ .<sup>2</sup>

The relation between the Chern-Simons level and the gravitational couplings is

$$k = \frac{\ell}{8G_3\epsilon_N}, \quad \epsilon_N \equiv \operatorname{tr}_f(L_0L_0) = \frac{1}{12}N(N^2 - 1),$$
 (2.5)

in accordance with the pure gravity limit. The notation  $tr_f$  denotes a trace in the fundamental representation of  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$ , and  $L_0$  is given in (A.8). The central charge of the asymptotic symmetry group is [7, 9]

$$c = 12k\epsilon_N = \frac{3\ell}{2G} \ . \tag{2.6}$$

For the immediate purpose of this work this is all we need to know about  $AdS_3$  higher spin gravity. For a more complete discussion see for example [10–12].

## 3 Wilson lines in $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$ Chern-Simons

There are currently two seemingly different proposals to compute holographic entanglement entropy in  $AdS_3$  higher spin theories. The proposal of the authors in [1] states that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Non-principal embeddings of  $sl(2,\mathbb{R})$  in  $sl(N,\mathbb{R})$  give a different gravitational interpretation of the Chern-Simons theory. Each inequivalent embedding generates a different spectrum of the theory.

entanglement of the dual theory is captured by a massive Wilson line

$$S_{\rm EE} = -\log\left(W_{\mathcal{R}}(C)\right)\,,\tag{3.1}$$

where  $W_{\mathcal{R}}(C)$  is a bulk Wilson line defined as:

$$W_{\mathcal{R}}(C) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\mathcal{P}\exp\int_{C}(A+\bar{A})\right)$$
 (3.2)

Here A and A are the connections representing a higher spin background in  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$ Chern-Simons theory. The representation  $\mathcal{R}$  is the infinite-dimensional highest-weight representation of  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$ , and C is a curve in the bulk that connects the end points of the interval of width  $\Delta x$  in the boundary.

The other proposal in the market to compute entanglement entropy is given by the following object [2]:

$$S_{\rm EE} = k \log \left[ \lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} W_{\mathcal{R}_N}^{\rm comp}(C) \right]_{\rho_0 = \rho_f = \rho_i} , \qquad (3.3)$$

where the quantity inside the logarithm is a composite Wilson line defined as

$$W_{\mathcal{R}_N}^{\text{comp}}(C) = \text{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N} \left[ \mathcal{P} \exp\left(\int_C \bar{A}\right) \mathcal{P} \exp\left(-\int_C A\right) \right], \qquad (3.4)$$

where C is the same curve as in (3.2). The trace is taken in a finite-dimensional representation, denoted  $\mathcal{R}_N$ , which is different for every N.

It was noted in [1, 2] that for explicit backgrounds in  $SL(3, \mathbb{R})$  (3.3) reported the same answer as the saddle point approximation of (3.1). However, the proposals look very different! In this section we will show that, in the semiclassical limit, they are equivalent for an open boundary interval. To do so, we will first generalise the proposal of [1] to  $SL(N,\mathbb{R})$ . In the process of finding an efficient and systematic way to evaluate (3.2), we will show how the composite Wilson line (3.4) makes its appearance.

In this section we will only focus on higher spin theories based on the principal embedding of  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  in  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$ . See appendix **D** for the generalization to non-principal embeddings.

## 3.1 Wilson line and massive particles

As anticipated, we would like the Wilson line (3.2) to give information about the entanglement entropy of an open interval  $\Delta x$  in the CFT. In 3d Einstein gravity, the calculation of the entanglement entropy is equivalent to computing the length of a geodesic connecting the endpoints of  $\Delta x$  [13–15]. A geodesic can be understood as the trajectory followed by a massive point particle. Our Wilson line should mimic the dynamics of this massive particle, and hence as a minimal requirement it should be able to carry the data of this particle.

A point particle in the classical limit is characterized by at least one continuous parameter: the mass m. This data is stored in the representation  $\mathcal{R}$  that defines the Wilson line. An infinite-dimensional representation of  $sl(N, \mathbb{R}) \oplus sl(N, \mathbb{R})$  will do the trick: it allows for continuous parameters which we can identify with a mass.<sup>3</sup> In particular, we will work with the so-called highest-weight representation. Consider the  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$  algebra in (A.1), and we define the highest-weight state of the representation as  $|hw\rangle \equiv |h, w_3, \ldots, w_N\rangle$  with the following properties:

$$L_{0}|\mathrm{hw}\rangle = h|\mathrm{hw}\rangle, \qquad L_{1}|\mathrm{hw}\rangle = 0, W_{0}^{(s)}|\mathrm{hw}\rangle = w_{s}|\mathrm{hw}\rangle, \qquad W_{i}^{(s)}|\mathrm{hw}\rangle = 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, s - 1.$$

$$(3.5)$$

The constants h and  $w_s$  with s = 3, ..., N are the parameters defining the representation.  $|hw\rangle$  is annihilated by the lowering operators; a descendant state is created by acting with the raising operators:  $W_{-j}^{(s)}$  and  $L_{-1}$ . With this, the Wilson line in the infinite-dimensional highest-weight representation of  $sl(N, \mathbb{R}) \times sl(N, \mathbb{R})$  is labelled by two towers of quantum numbers:  $(h, w_s)$  and  $(\bar{h}, \bar{w}_s)$ . In particular the mass  $\hat{m}$  and orbital spin  $\hat{s}$  are given by

$$\ell \hat{m} = h + \bar{h} , \quad \hat{s} = \bar{h} - h . \tag{3.6}$$

For the purpose of computing entanglement entropy we would like for the representation to only carry mass and no other quantum numbers. Hence we will set

$$h = \bar{h}, \quad w_s = \bar{w}_s = 0, \quad \forall s . \tag{3.7}$$

We have to fix as well the value of  $\hat{m}$  in order to make contact with entanglement; this will be done in section 3.3. Of course this choice of representation can be modified, but this will change the interpretation of the Wilson line in terms of the dual theory. For instance one could design probes that carry higher spin charge or orbital spin; the interpretation of this object in the dual CFT interpretation will be different, but still rather interesting. See [16] for the case when  $w_3 = \bar{w}_3 \neq 0$  in SL(3,  $\mathbb{R}$ ) higher spin theory, and see [17] for a discussion when  $\hat{s} \neq 0$ .

## 3.2 Path integral representation of the Wilson line

The more complex step is to actually evaluate the trace in (3.1). Following [1], we will interpret  $\mathcal{R}$  as the Hilbert space of an auxiliary quantum mechanical system that lives on the Wilson line, and replace the trace over  $\mathcal{R}$  by a path integral. This auxiliary system is described by some field U, and we will pick the dynamics of U so that upon quantization the Hilbert space of the system will be precisely the desired representation  $\mathcal{R}$ . More concretely,

$$W_{\mathcal{R}}(C) = \int \mathcal{D}U e^{-S(U,A,\bar{A})_C}, \qquad (3.8)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Moreover, these infinite dimensional representations can be unitary. It can be proven that all finitedimensional representations of  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$  are non-unitary.

where the action  $S(U, A, \overline{A})_C$  has  $SL(N, \mathbb{R}) \times SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  as a local symmetry. The auxiliary system is appropriately described by the following action:<sup>4</sup>

$$S(U, A, \bar{A})_C = \int_C dy \left( \operatorname{Tr} \left( P U^{-1} D_y U \right) + \lambda_2(y) \left( \operatorname{Tr} (P^2) - c_2 \right) + \ldots + \lambda_N(y) \left( \operatorname{Tr} (P^N) - c_N \right) \right) .$$

$$(3.9)$$

Here P is the canonical momentum conjugate to U that lives in the Lie algebra  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$ . The variable y parametrizes the curve C, and we pick  $y \in [y_i, y_f]$ . The trace Tr(...) is a short-cut notation for the contraction using the Killing forms in (A.11):

$$\operatorname{Tr}(P^m) = h_{a_1...a_m} P^{a_1} \dots P^{a_m}, \quad m = 2, \dots, N,$$
(3.10)

where  $P = P^a T_a$  and  $T_a$  is a generator of  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$ . The functions  $\lambda_m(y)$  represent Lagrange multipliers which enforce constraints on P. The elements  $c_m$  are the Casimir invariants  $C_m$  (A.13) applied to the highest weight state, and contain the information of the highestweight quantum numbers h and  $w_s$ . Note that in this action we already implemented that  $h = \bar{h}$  and  $w_s = \bar{w}_s$ , since there is only one momenta variable P. This will suffice for the discussion here, but the generalization is worthwhile studying [17].

The covariant derivative is defined as

$$D_y U \equiv \frac{d}{dy} U + A_y U - U\bar{A}_y, \quad A_y \equiv A_\mu \frac{dx^\mu}{dy}, \quad \bar{A}_y \equiv \bar{A}_\mu \frac{dx^\mu}{dy}, \quad (3.11)$$

where A and  $\overline{A}$  are the connections that determine the background. With these definitions we have achieved our first goal: the system is invariant under the local symmetries along the curve. The transformation properties of the fields are

$$A_{\mu} \to L(x^{\mu}(y))(A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu})L^{-1}(x^{\mu}(y)), \qquad \bar{A}_{\mu} \to R^{-1}(x^{\mu}(y))(\bar{A}_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu})R(x^{\mu}(y)), \quad (3.12)$$

and

$$U(s) \to L(x^{\mu}(y))U(s)R(x^{\mu}(y)), \quad P(y) \to R^{-1}(x^{\mu}(y))P(y)R(x^{\mu}(y)), \quad (3.13)$$

with L and R being element of the group  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$ .

The equations of motion are:

$$D_y P \equiv \frac{d}{dy} P + [\bar{A}_y, P] = 0,$$
  
$$U^{-1} D_y U + 2\lambda_2(y) P + 3\lambda_3(y) P \times P + \dots + N\lambda_N(y) \underbrace{P \times \dots \times P}_{N-1} = 0, \qquad (3.14)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>As discussed in [1], the choice of the action  $S(U, A, \overline{A})_C$  is not unique, it is just a useful trick. There are many auxiliary systems that will recover the trace over the representation in (3.2), giving the same result for the Wilson line only depending on  $\mathcal{R}$  and C.

plus the Casimirs constraints  $Tr(P^m) = c_m$ . The cross product is a short-cut notation for:

$$\underbrace{P \times \ldots \times P}_{m} \equiv h_{i_1 \dots i_{m+1}} P^{i_1} \dots P^{i_m} T^{i_{m+1}} .$$
(3.15)

For an open curve C we need to choose boundary conditions for U(y) at the endpoints of the curve. In the pure gravity case, it is natural to ask that the answer is invariant under Lorentz transformations (since the geodesic length shares this property). In  $SL(2, \mathbb{R}) \times$  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ , the group elements R and L that parametrize the local Lorentz subgroup is:

$$R = L^{-1} (3.16)$$

A natural condition is to impose that  $U(y_i)$  and  $U(y_f)$  are invariant under a gauge transformation of the form (3.16); this will assure that  $S_{\text{EE}}$  is insensitive to Lorentz transformations. From (3.13), we see that the only boundary conditions that satisfy this condition are:

$$U(y_i) = U(y_f) = 1 . (3.17)$$

For higher spin gravity, the symmetry group is  $SL(N, \mathbb{R}) \times SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  and we cannot say that the Lorentz subgroup is described by (3.16); the condition (3.16) is much bigger in this case! Still, we will impose (3.17) in the higher spin case since it is the natural generalization of the gravitational case.

## 3.2.1 On-shell action

In this subsection we will evaluate  $W_{\mathcal{R}}(C)$  in saddle point approximation. To capture this piece, we will find a practical way to compute the classical action (3.9) for any background connection. The derivations will be applicable for both open and closed curves, and we will keep  $w_s \neq 0$  in this subsection.

To evaluate (3.9), we start by eliminating the dependence of U using equation (3.14):

$$S_{\text{on-shell}} = \int_C dy \operatorname{Tr}(PU^{-1}D_yU)$$
  
=  $-\int_C dy (2\lambda_2(y)\operatorname{Tr}(P^2) + 3\lambda_3(y)\operatorname{Tr}(P^3) + \ldots + N\lambda_N(y)\operatorname{Tr}(P^N))$   
=  $-\int_C dy (2c_2\lambda_2(y) + 3c_3\lambda_3(y) + \ldots + Nc_N\lambda_N(y))$  (3.18)

where in the last line we used the Casimirs constraints to eliminate P. Recall that the curve C is running from  $y \in [y_i, y_f]$ . It will be useful for us to define:

$$\Delta \alpha_m = \alpha_m(y_f) - \alpha_m(y_i) = \int_{y_i}^{y_f} dy \,\lambda_m(y) \,, \tag{3.19}$$

and with this simplified notation, the action becomes:

$$S_{\text{on-shell}} = -2 c_2 \Delta \alpha_2 - 3 c_3 \Delta \alpha_3 + \ldots - N c_N \Delta \alpha_N . \qquad (3.20)$$

We need to determine  $\Delta \alpha_m$  as a function of the connections A and  $\bar{A}$ ; we will follow the method used in [1]. We start by building a solution when  $A = \bar{A} = 0$ : this defines for us  $U_0(y)$  and  $P_0(y)$  which from (3.14) read

$$U_0(y) = u_0 e^{-2\alpha_2(y)P_0 - 3\alpha_3(y)P_0 \times P_0 + \dots - N\alpha_N(y)P_0 \times \dots \times P_0}, \qquad P_0(y) = P_0, \qquad (3.21)$$

where  $u_0$  is a constant matrix, and  $\alpha_m(y)$  is defined in (3.19). From here, building a solution with  $A \neq 0$  and  $\bar{A} \neq 0$  is rather simple. As consequence of the flatness condition (2.2), every connection can be expressed locally as a gauge transformation

$$A_{\mu} = L(x)\partial_{\mu}L^{-1}(x), \qquad \bar{A}_{\mu} = R^{-1}(x)\partial_{\mu}R(x), \qquad (3.22)$$

where the group elelemnts L and R will reproduce different background connections. This means that we can build any solution to (3.14) for connections (3.22) by simply acting with L and R on (3.21). This gives

$$U(y) = L(x(y))U_0(y)R(x(y)), \quad P(y) = R^{-1}(x(y))P_0(y)R(x(y)).$$
(3.23)

Next, we impose the boundary condition (3.17); enforcing this condition on (3.23) gives

$$\mathbb{1} = U(y_i) = L(y_i) \left( u_0 e^{-2\alpha_2(y_i)P_0 - 3\alpha_3(y_i)P_0 \times P_0 + \dots - N\alpha_N(y_i)P_0 \times \dots \times P_0} \right) R(y_i), 
\mathbb{1} = U(y_f) = L(y_f) \left( u_0 e^{-2\alpha_2(y_f)P_0 - 3\alpha_3(y_f)P_0 \times P_0 + \dots - N\alpha_N(y_f)P_0 \times \dots \times P_0} \right) R(y_f).$$
(3.24)

If we combine both previous equations to eliminate  $u_0$  we obtain

$$e^{\mathbb{P}} = M$$
,  $M \equiv R(y_i)L(y_i)L^{-1}(y_f)R^{-1}(y_f)$ , (3.25)

where we define

$$\mathbb{P} \equiv -2\Delta\alpha_2 P_0 - 3\Delta\alpha_3 P_0 \times P_0 + \ldots - N\Delta\alpha_N P_0 \times \ldots \times P_0 .$$
(3.26)

For a given  $P_0$ , (3.25) determines  $\Delta \alpha_m$  as a function of the background A and A. Solving (3.25) is the most difficult task we have ahead of us.

To determine the on-shell action we note that  $\operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{P}P_0) = S_{\text{on-shell}}$ . Hence using (3.25) we find

$$-\log W_{\mathcal{R}}(C) = S_{\text{on-shell}} = \operatorname{Tr}(\log(M)P_0) .$$
(3.27)

This gives a very general expression for the on-shell value of the effective action for both open and closed curves C. The specific choice of  $P_0$  will determine the representation  $\mathcal{R}$ . For instance if we wanted to evaluate the Wilson line for a representation like (3.7) we would use

$$P_0 = hL_0 = \sqrt{\frac{c_2}{\operatorname{tr}_f(L_0L_0)}}L_0, \qquad (3.28)$$

and for a general representation with  $(h, w_s) = (\bar{h}, \bar{w}_s)$  we would have

$$P_0 = hL_0 + \sum_{s=2}^m w_s W_0^{(s)} . aga{3.29}$$

At this stage it useful to note that M, as defined in (3.25), can also be written as

$$M = \mathcal{P} \exp\left(\int_C \bar{A}\right) \mathcal{P} \exp\left(-\int_C A\right) \,, \tag{3.30}$$

and hence  $W_{\mathcal{R}_N}^{\text{comp}}(C) = \text{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N} M$ . However, (3.27) is still not casted in the appropriate way to show that (3.1) is equivalent to (3.3).

#### 3.3 Lines: entanglement entropy

As advertised, we are interested in using  $W_{\mathcal{R}}(C)$  to evaluate entanglement entropy. With this application in mind, we will focus our attention to open intervals that are anchored at the boundary. Furthermore, as argued in [1], we have to choose the *massive* representation (3.7). This implies that  $P_0 \in sl(2,\mathbb{R})$ . Without loss of generality, it is convenient to set

$$P_0 = \sqrt{\frac{c_2}{\operatorname{tr}_f(L_0 L_0)}} L_0 \ . \tag{3.31}$$

With this choice several of simplifications occur. In particular, the Casimirs  $c_m = 0$  for  $m \ge 3$  due to our choice of Killing forms in (A.14), and hence he on-shell action (3.20) reduces to

$$S_{\rm on-shell} = -2 c_2 \Delta \alpha_2 . \qquad (3.32)$$

To solve for  $\Delta \alpha_2$  we just need to decode  $\mathbb{P}$  in (3.26). Since (3.25) and (3.32) are independent of the representation, for simplicity, we will first focus in the fundamental representation. Using (3.31) and the identities listed in appendix A, we can rewrite  $\mathbb{P}$  as

$$\mathbb{P} = \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 L_0 + \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_3 H^3 + \ldots + \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_N H^N , \qquad (3.33)$$

where all the sums of the series belong to the Cartan subalgebra, and we defined

$$\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 \equiv -2\Delta \alpha_2 \sqrt{\frac{c_2}{\operatorname{tr}_f(L_0 L_0)}}, \qquad (3.34)$$

and

$$\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_m \equiv -m\Delta \alpha_m \left(\frac{c_2}{\operatorname{tr}_f(L_0 L_0)}\right)^{\frac{m-1}{2}} \operatorname{tr}_f(\underbrace{L_0 \dots L_0}_{m-1} H_m), \quad \text{for} \quad m > 2 \ . \tag{3.35}$$

Since the Cartan elements are diagonal in the fundamental representation,  $\mathbb{P}$  is a diagonal matrix. In order to solve (3.25), we should put both sides in the same basis. So, we will diagonalize M:

$$\exp(\lambda_{\mathbb{P}}) = \lambda_M \,, \tag{3.36}$$

where  $\lambda_{\mathbb{P}}$  and  $\lambda_M$ , are the eigenvalue matrices for  $\mathbb{P}$  and M. In principle one could evaluate the eigenvalues and match both sides, and solve for  $\Delta \alpha_2$ . Instead, noting that  $\operatorname{tr}_f(H_m H_{m'}) = 0$  if  $m \neq m'$ , the trace of (3.36) with  $L_0$  gives

$$\Delta \alpha_2 = -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{c_2 \cdot \operatorname{tr}_f(L_0 L_0)}} \operatorname{tr}_f(\log(\lambda_M) L_0) \ . \tag{3.37}$$

and hence, in the saddle point approximation, we have

$$\log W_{\mathcal{R}}(C) = -S_{\text{on-shell}} = -\sqrt{\frac{c_2}{\operatorname{tr}_f(L_0 L_0)}} \operatorname{tr}_f(\log(\lambda_M) L_0) \ . \tag{3.38}$$

This result assumes an ordering of the eigenvalues of M; we will discuss about the implications of the ordering in the following subsection.

Our goal is to compute entanglement entropy and, for that to be the case, the massive particle described by (3.31) needs to implement the correct type of singularity in the background solution [18]. This requirement determines uniquely  $c_2$ , and this can be done by analyzing the backreaction of  $W_{\mathcal{R}}$  on  $(A, \bar{A})$ . We will skip the details here since it follows in a straight forward manner from either the arguments in [1] or [16] applied for  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  theory. We find

$$\sqrt{\frac{c_2}{\operatorname{tr}_f(L_0L_0)}} = k(n-1) + O(n-1)^2, \qquad (3.39)$$

with n being the number of replicas that define Renyi entropies, and k is the Chern-Simons level. Holographic entanglement entropy is then given by

$$S_{\rm EE} = \lim_{n \to 1} \frac{1}{1-n} \log \operatorname{Tr} \rho^n = \lim_{n \to 1} \frac{1}{1-n} \log(W_{\mathcal{R}}(C)) = k \operatorname{tr}_f(\log(\lambda_M) L_0) .$$
(3.40)

Operationally, we may then simply write the entanglement entropy as

$$S_{\rm EE} = -\log\left(W_{\mathcal{R}}(C)\right)\,,\tag{3.41}$$

and substitute

$$\sqrt{\frac{c_2}{\operatorname{tr}_f(L_0L_0)}} \to k\,,\tag{3.42}$$

in the final answer. This automatically takes care of the *n*-dependence, but it should be kept in mind that the motivation is actually the reasoning in (3.40).

#### 3.3.1 Primary ordering

In evaluating (3.38) there is an implicit choice of the ordering for the eigenvalues of M. In this subsection we want to make this choice explicit.

 $P_0$  was fixed according to (3.31), but this information is washed away in (3.38). The problem arises because potentially there are many choices of  $P_0$  that give (3.37) as a valid solution of (3.25). Actually, the different orders of  $\lambda_M$  correspond to different momenta configurations with  $c_2 \neq 0$  and  $c_m = 0$ , but not necessarily compatible with (3.31). Since

we need to assure that the Wilson line does no carry higher spin charges, we will fix the order of  $\lambda_M$  which is compatible with  $P_0 \in sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ .

To fix the ordering, lets study first (3.36) when the background is in the gravitational sector:  $A, \bar{A} \in sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ . In this case we have that  $M \in SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ . Any diagonal matrix belonging to  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  must be conjugated to  $e^{L_0}$ , therefore the eigenvalues of M have the form:

$$\{\lambda_M^{(j)}\} = \left\{ z^{\frac{(N-1)}{2}}, \, z^{\frac{(N-3)}{2}}, \, \dots, \, z^{-\frac{(N-3)}{2}}, \, z^{-\frac{(N-1)}{2}} \right\} \,, \tag{3.43}$$

in the fundamental representation of  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  (see appendix A), and z is a function of the parameters of the background connections.

Since  $M \in SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ , from (3.25) we have that  $\mathbb{P} \in sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ . But this is not enough: we need as well that  $P_0 \in sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ , and from (3.33) and (3.25) it sets  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_m = 0$  for m > 2. The eigenvalues of  $exp(\mathbb{P})$  are then

$$\{e^{\lambda_{\mathbb{P}}^{(j)}}\} = \left\{e^{\frac{(N-1)}{2}\Delta\tilde{\alpha}_2}, e^{\frac{(N-3)}{2}\Delta\tilde{\alpha}_2}, \dots, e^{-\frac{(N-3)}{2}\Delta\tilde{\alpha}_2}, e^{-\frac{(N-1)}{2}\Delta\tilde{\alpha}_2}\right\},.$$
 (3.44)

Now lets compare (3.44) with (3.43). Since these equations are invariant under  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 \rightarrow -\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2$ , and  $z \rightarrow z^{-1}$ , there are two possible orders to match the eigenvalues:  $e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2} = z^{\pm 1}$ . By construction, one of the orders gives  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2$  positive, and the other negative. Since  $S_{\rm EE} \sim \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2$  and the entropy must be positive, we will pick the order in which  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 > 0$ . This determines the ordering uniquely in the SL(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ ) limit.

When we turn on higher spin vevs in the background connections, the eigenvalues of M will change giving raise to non zero  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_m$  in  $\mathbb{P}$ . However, the matching of the eigenvalues will be determined by continuity with the SL(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ ) limit. Provided a solution to  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_m$  was found from (3.36), this solution must satisfy

$$\lim_{M \to \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})} \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 > 0 , \quad \lim_{M \to \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})} \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_m = 0 , \quad m > 2 .$$
 (3.45)

This determines the ordering of eigenvalues in  $\lambda_M$  which is compatible with  $P_0 \in sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ , and it will be referred to as *primary order*. This prescription will assure that the Wilson line indeed carries the quantum numbers (3.7).

#### 3.3.2 The proof

Finding the eigenvalues  $\lambda_M$  is a tedious task. However, we just need the leading divergent pieces as the endpoints of C asymptote to the boundary. The goal of this section is to find a different way to solve for  $\Delta \alpha_2$  when C ends on an open interval at the boundary.<sup>5</sup> In this process we will be able to prove that (3.1) is equivalent to (3.3).

Our task will be divided in two steps:

- 1. To first understand the divergent properties of M as C approaches the boundary.
- 2. Find a representation that easily projects out  $\Delta \alpha_2$  from M.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Closed curves will be discussed in section 3.4.

To achieve our first task, we need to spell out more what it is assumed about the background connections A and  $\overline{A}$ . We have that

$$M = R(y_i)L(y_i)L^{-1}(y_f)R^{-1}(y_f) . (3.46)$$

Since we are only interested in traces of M, i.e. its eigenvalues, we will conjugate M by  $R(y_i)$  to get

$$M \rightarrow M = L(y_i)L^{-1}(y_f)R^{-1}(y_f)R(y_i)$$
 (3.47)

We are interested in connections (3.22) of the form

$$R(x^{\mu}) = \exp\left(\int_0^x \bar{a}\right) b^{-1}(\rho) , \quad L(x^{\mu}) = b^{-1}(\rho) \exp\left(-\int_0^x a\right) , \quad (3.48)$$

where  $b(\rho) \equiv \exp(\rho L_0)$ ,  $a = a_t dt + a_x dx$  and  $\bar{a} = \bar{a}_t dt + \bar{a}_x dx$ . The limit  $\rho \to \infty$  defines the boundary of the space. All the connections will as well satisfy

$$A_x = e^{\rho} L_1 + O(1) , \quad \bar{A}_x = e^{-\rho} L_{-1} + O(1) , \qquad (3.49)$$

which means that the backgrounds are asymptotically  $AdS_3$  in accordance with e.g. [19, 20]. This guarantees that all backgrounds have a well defined  $SL(2, \mathbb{R}) \times SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  limit. Our curve satisfies boundary conditions

$$\rho(y_f) = \rho(y_i) \equiv \rho_0, \quad x(y_f) - x(y_i) \equiv \Delta x, \quad t(y) = \text{constant}, \quad (3.50)$$

and we take  $\rho_0 \to \infty$ . From (3.46) and (3.48) we have

$$M = e^{-2L_0\rho_0} e^{\Delta a_x} e^{2L_0\rho_0} e^{-\Delta \bar{a}_x}, \qquad (3.51)$$

where  $\Delta a_x$  is the integral of  $a_x$  with boundary conditions (3.50), and an analogous definition for  $\Delta \bar{a}_x$ . It is rather clear here that divergent piece as  $\rho_0 \to \infty$  is governed by  $L_0$ . If we solve for (3.36) while enforcing the primary ordering of eigenvalues, we find that the leading order solution in  $e^{\rho_0}$  is

$$e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2} \sim e^{4\rho_0}, \quad \text{and} \quad e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_m} \sim 1, \quad m > 2.$$
 (3.52)

In this expression we are highlighting the divergent piece: the symbol "~" denotes equality up to a non-zero function of  $(\Delta a_x, \Delta \bar{a}_x)$ . The derivation of (3.52) is presented in appendix C.

Now we move on to our second task. We consider again equation (3.36) but this time we will take its trace:

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}(e^{\mathbb{P}}) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}(M),$$
(3.53)

where  $\mathcal{R}$  is a representation that we have not fixed yet. Actually, the goal is to find a representation for which it is easy to read off  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2$  from equation (3.53).

In a general representation,  $\mathbb{P}$  is not diagonal anymore. However, since all its elements

are Cartans, we can write:

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}(e^{\mathbb{P}}) = \sum_{j} \left( e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_{2}} \right)^{n_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}} \left( e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_{3}} \right)^{m_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}} \dots \left( e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_{N}} \right)^{k_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}}, \qquad (3.54)$$

where the index  $j = 1, \ldots, \dim(\mathcal{R})$ , and the powers  $(n_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}, m_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}, \ldots, k_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)})$  are the eigenvalues of the Cartan elements in  $\mathbb{P}$ , which depend on the representation  $\mathcal{R}$ .

We want to take  $\rho_0 \to \infty$  in (3.54); from (3.52) the dominant term is the one with the biggest power of  $e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2}$ . In the following we will find a representation  $\mathcal{R}$  for which the dominant term has as well null powers of  $e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_m}$  for m > 2. For this representation, the limit  $\rho_0 \to \infty$  of  $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}(M)$  will depend only on  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2$ .

In order to find the suitable representation we need a way to generally characterize the powers in (3.54). Since  $\mathbb{P}$  is an element of the Cartan subalgebra  $\mathfrak{h}$ , we define  $\vec{p}$  as its dual element in the root space  $\mathfrak{h}^*$ . From equation (3.33), the explicit form of  $\vec{p}$ :

$$\vec{p} = \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 \vec{l}_0 + \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_3 \vec{h}_3 + \ldots + \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_N \vec{h}_N, \qquad (3.55)$$

where  $\vec{l}_0$ ,  $\vec{h}_s$  are the dual elements of the Cartans  $L_0$ ,  $H_s$ . We can write each diagonal element of  $\mathbb{P}$  for a general representation  $\mathcal{R}$  using its defining weights  $\vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}$ :

$$\lambda_{\mathbb{P}}^{(j)} = \langle \vec{p}, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} \rangle, \qquad (3.56)$$

where  $\langle \dots, \dots \rangle$  is the inner product on the root space  $\mathfrak{h}^*$ , defined in appendix B. Using this notation, (3.54) reads

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}(e^{\mathbb{P}}) = \sum_{j} e^{\langle \vec{p}, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} \rangle} = \sum_{j} e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_{2} \langle \vec{l}_{0}, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} \rangle + \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_{3} \langle \vec{h}_{3}, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} \rangle + \ldots + \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_{N} \langle \vec{h}_{N}, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} \rangle}, \qquad (3.57)$$

where the sum runs for all the weights  $\overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}$  of the representation  $\mathcal{R}$ . As  $\rho_0 \to \infty$ , the leading term is the one with the weight that maximizes  $\langle \vec{l}_0, \overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} \rangle$ .

In the principal embedding  $\vec{l}_0$  is a *dominant weight*, which means that  $\vec{l}_0$  has positive and integer Dynkyn labels. Moreover,

$$\langle \vec{l}_0, \vec{\alpha}_i \rangle > 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, N-1,$$
(3.58)

where  $\vec{\alpha}_i$  are the simple roots of the algebra. There exists as well a unique highest weight,  $\vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw}$ , which has the biggest coefficients in the basis of the simple roots, i.e., all other weights are calculated subtracting simple roots to the highest weight:

$$\vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} = \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} - \sum_{i} n_{i}^{(j)} \vec{\alpha}_{i}, \qquad (3.59)$$

where  $n_i^{(j)}$  are positive integers that can be found for every weight  $\overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}$ . With (3.58) and (3.59), we see that the maximum value of the inner product  $\langle \vec{l}_0, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} \rangle$  arises when

 $\overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} = \overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw}$ . Consequently, the dominant term in (3.57) is

$$\lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}(e^{\mathbb{P}}) = e^{\langle \vec{p}, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} \rangle} = e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 \langle \vec{l}_0, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} \rangle + \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_3 \langle \vec{h}_3, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} \rangle + \ldots + \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_N \langle \vec{h}_N, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} \rangle} .$$
(3.60)

Now, we are ready to pick a representation that extracts just the information of the parameter  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2$ . It is obvious that we have to choose a representation  $\mathcal{R}_N$  whose highest weight is  $\overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}_N}^{hw} = \vec{l_0}$ . If we do so, the expression for  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2$  is

$$\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 = \frac{1}{\operatorname{tr}_f(L_0 L_0)} \log \left[ \lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N}(M) \right], \qquad (3.61)$$

where we have used  $\langle \vec{l}_0, \vec{l}_0 \rangle = \text{tr}_f(L_0 L_0)$ . Using equations (3.32) and (3.34) we finally find

$$S_{EE} = k \log \left[ \lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N}(M) \right] .$$
(3.62)

The dimension of  $\mathcal{R}_N$  is given by the Weyl formula:

$$\dim(\mathcal{R}_N) = \prod_{\vec{\alpha}>0} \frac{\langle \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} + \vec{\rho}, \vec{\alpha} \rangle}{\langle \vec{\rho}, \vec{\alpha} \rangle}, \qquad (3.63)$$

with  $\vec{\rho}$  the Weyl vector and  $\vec{\alpha} > 0$  are positive roots. For the principal embedding  $\vec{l}_0 = \vec{\rho}$  and that the number of positive roots of  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  is N(N-1)/2. Consequently the dimension of the representation that calculates the entanglement entropy in (3.62) is

$$\dim(\mathcal{R}_N) = 2^{\frac{N(N-1)}{2}}.$$
 (3.64)

With formula (3.62), we find the leading term in  $e^{\rho_0}$  (the UV cutoff) of the entanglement entropy for higher spin theory with less computational effort than using (3.38). The difficult portion is to write M in the representation  $\mathcal{R}_N$ . Furthermore, formula (3.62) allows us to do identify proposals in [1] and [2]. As noted in (3.30) we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N}(M) = W_{\mathcal{R}_N}^{\operatorname{comp}}(f, i) \,. \tag{3.65}$$

Moreover, the representation  $\mathcal{R}_N$  is exactly the same that in (3.3). As a consequence, we have proven that formula (3.3) captures the most divergent piece of (3.1), and hence both proposals capture holographic entanglement for AdS<sub>3</sub> higher spin gravity. We consider (3.62) our most important result.

## 3.4 Loops: thermal entropy

In this subsection, we will show how to find the thermal entropy for a higher spin black hole using a Wilson loop. In this case, we consider periodic boundary conditions

$$\rho(y_i) = \rho(y_f), \quad t = 0, \quad \Delta x = x(y_f) - x(y_i) = 2\pi\ell,$$
(3.66)

where x is the spatial coordinate with periodicity  $x \sim x + 2\pi \ell$ . In  $\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R}) \times \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$ , the Wilson loop in the infinite dimensional representation computes the length around the horizon, which is the thermal entropy of the black hole [1]. Analogously as we did for the entanglement entropy, we will show that for the representation (3.7), the Wilson loop in  $\mathrm{SL}(N,\mathbb{R}) \times \mathrm{SL}(N,\mathbb{R})$  will recover the thermal entropy for higher spin black holes in agreement with [21].

From section 3.2.1 we found a general expression for the on-shell value; however this expression simplifies greatly for a closed path. We start by noticing that the auxiliary variables of the Wilson line require

$$U(y_f) = U(y_i), \qquad P(y_f) = P(y_i).$$
 (3.67)

Imposing these periodic conditions for U in (3.23), and we get

$$e^{\mathbb{P}} = u_0^{-1} \left( L^{-1}(y_f) L(y_i) \right) u_0 \left( R(y_i) R^{-1}(y_f) \right) .$$
(3.68)

Using (3.48), we rewrite the previous equation as:

$$e^{\mathbb{P}} = u_0^{-1} \exp(2\pi \ell a_x) \, u_0 \exp(-2\pi \ell \bar{a}_x) \,. \tag{3.69}$$

Here we are assuming that  $(a_x, \bar{a}_x)$  are constant connections. Demanding periodicity in P(y) in equation (3.23) we obtain the following condition:

$$[P_0, R^{-1}(y_f)R(y_i)] = 0. (3.70)$$

which says that  $P_0$  and  $\bar{a}_x$  simultaneously diagonalize, and, therefore, the same do  $\mathbb{P}$  and  $\bar{a}_x$ . If we denote V as the matrix of eigenvectors, and  $\lambda_x$  and  $\lambda_{\mathbb{P}}$  represent the eigenvalues, equation (3.69) reduces to

$$\exp(\lambda_{\mathbb{P}}) = (u_0 V)^{-1} \exp\left(2\pi \ell a_x\right) (u_0 V) \exp\left(-2\pi \ell \bar{\lambda}_x\right) . \tag{3.71}$$

Since the left-hand-side is diagonal, consistency of the previous equation requires to choose  $u_0$  such that  $u_0V$  is the matrix which diagonalizes  $a_x$ , and the right-hand-side of (3.71) is diagonal as well. With this choice:

$$\exp(\lambda_{\mathbb{P}}) = e^{2\pi\ell(\lambda_x - \bar{\lambda}_x)}.$$
(3.72)

Analogously to section 3.2.1, we use  $Tr(\mathbb{P}P_0) = S_{\text{on-shell}}$  to find:

$$-\log W_{\mathcal{R}}(C) = S_{\text{on-shell}} = \operatorname{tr}_f \left( 2\pi \ell (\lambda_x - \bar{\lambda}_x) P_0 \right) .$$
(3.73)

To compute thermal entropy we choose again  $P_0$  as (3.31), and use (3.42). In this case, the Wilson line computes gives

$$S_{\rm th} = 2\pi k {\rm tr}_f \left( (\lambda_x - \bar{\lambda}_x) L_0 \right) . \qquad (3.74)$$

This is the generalization to  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  for the thermal entropy found in reference [1] for  $SL(3, \mathbb{R})$ . With this result we have reproduced by means of our formalism the thermal entropy for higher spin black hole, proposed originally in [21]. If we choose  $P_0 \sim W_0^{(3)}$  we would reproduce the thermal results for spin-3 entropy defined in [16].

#### 4 Entanglement entropy on finite charge backgrounds

In this section we will evaluate our Wilson line and obtain  $S_{\rm EE}$  for any background connection that satisfies Drinfeld-Sokolov boundary conditions. The backgrounds represent finite charge solutions, and the results in this section are valid for either higher spin black holes [19, 20, 22] or a conical defect [23].

More explicitly, we will consider connections of the form (3.48)-(3.49), and we will implement these boundary conditions by writing

$$A = b^{-1}ab + b^{-1}db, \quad \bar{A} = b\bar{a}b^{-1} + bdb^{-1}, \tag{4.1}$$

where  $b(\rho) \equiv \exp(\rho L_0)$ ,  $a = a_t dt + a_x dx$  and  $\bar{a} = \bar{a}_t dt + \bar{a}_x dx$ , and

$$a_x = L_1 + \sum_{s=2}^{N} q_{(s)} W_{-s+1}^{(s)}, \quad \bar{a}_x = L_{-1} + \sum_{s=2}^{N} \bar{q}_{(s)} W_{s-1}^{(s)}.$$
(4.2)

In this decomposition,  $(a_x, \bar{a}_x)$  contain the information about the higher spin charges of the solutions, which up to some normalization are  $(q_{(s)}, \bar{q}_{(s)})$ . In particular the conformal weights are given by

$$h = k \operatorname{tr}_f(L_{-1}L_1) q_{(2)}, \quad \bar{h} = k \operatorname{tr}_f(L_{-1}L_1) \bar{q}_{(2)}.$$
 (4.3)

The components  $(a_t, \bar{a}_t)$ , which are constrained by the equation of motions, contain the conjugate potentials to the charges.<sup>6</sup> This decomposition of the connection follows from the discussion in [19, 20, 24]; note that this is different from the holomorphic decomposition used in [22].

In the following we will develop two different methods explicitly evaluate  $S_{\text{EE}}$  as function of  $q_{(s)}$  and the length of the interval  $\Delta x$ . The first method will elaborate on solving for the eigenvalues of M and evaluating (3.40). This method gives an exact answer for any range of  $\Delta x$ , but it is somewhat tedious to extract certain features from the answer. The second method relies on a small interval expansion of (3.62). The main appeal of this limit is that the first correction relative to the vacuum is universal [3] which gives a direct check of the proposals in [1, 2] for any N.

## 4.1 Method I

Our goal is to characterize the leading divergent behavior of the eigenvalues of the matrix M in (3.25) so we can evaluate (3.40). Working in the fundamental representation of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Since we will only compute  $S_{\text{EE}}$  on a spatial interval, the temporal component of the connections is not relevant in the present discussion. See [19, 20, 24] for the full expressions.

 $sl(N,\mathbb{R})$ , the characteristic polynomial is given by

$$\lambda_M^N + c_1 \lambda_M^{N-1} + c_2 \lambda_M^{N-2} + \dots c_i \lambda_M^{N-i} \dots + c_{N-1} \lambda_M + c_N = 0.$$
(4.4)

The coefficients  $c_i$  can be written in terms of traces of powers of the matrix M, see e.g. [25]. The coefficient  $c_i$  is the result of the following determinant:

$$c_{i} = \frac{(-1)^{i}}{i!} \begin{vmatrix} M_{1} & 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ M_{2} & M_{1} & 2 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ M_{3} & M_{2} & M_{1} & 3 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & & 0 \\ M_{i-1} & M_{i-2} & \cdots & M_{1} & i-1 \\ M_{i} & M_{i-1} & \cdots & M_{2} & M_{1} \end{vmatrix},$$
(4.5)

where  $M_i \equiv \operatorname{tr}_f(M^i)$ .

Since we are interested in the behavior of the eigenvalues when  $\rho_0 \to \infty$ , it will be useful to find the leading order term of the coefficients  $c_i$ . To do so, we will first determine  $c_i$  as a function of the eigenvalues  $\lambda_M^{(j)}$ . The first coefficient is explicitly:

$$c_1 = -M_1 = -(\lambda_M^{(1)} + \lambda_M^{(2)} + \ldots + \lambda_M^{(N)}).$$
(4.6)

Using (C.6), we see that only the first eigenvalue contributes to the leading order of  $c_1$ :

$$c_1 \sim \lambda_M^{(1)} \sim \varepsilon^{-2(N-1)} \,, \tag{4.7}$$

where  $\varepsilon = e^{-\rho_0}$  is the UV cutoff. The second coefficient can be written as:

$$c_2 = \frac{1}{2} \left[ (M_1)^2 - M_2 \right] = \lambda_M^{(1)} \lambda_M^{(2)} + \ldots + \lambda_M^{(N)} \lambda_M^{(1)} + \lambda_M^{(N)} \lambda_M^{(2)} , \qquad (4.8)$$

whose leading term is:

$$c_2 \sim \lambda_M^{(1)} \lambda_M^{(2)} \sim \varepsilon^{-2(N-1)-2(N-3)}$$
 (4.9)

If we keep analyzing (4.5) for different values of i, we will see that the coefficient  $c_i$  will always be a sum of terms of the type:

$$c_i \propto \sum_{j \neq k \neq \dots \neq l} \underbrace{\lambda_M^{(j)} \lambda_M^{(k)} \dots \lambda_M^{(l)}}_{i-\text{terms}}, \qquad (4.10)$$

where each term in the series is a multiplication of *i* eigenvalues, and the sum runs over all possible combinations of the  $j, k, l \dots$ , which do not repeat an eigenvalue more than once. The symbol  $\propto$  means that both sides are equivalent up to a numerical factor. Using (C.6), the leading divergence in  $\rho_0$  of  $c_i$  is the term that contains the first *i*-th eigenvalues:

$$c_i \sim \lambda_M^{(1)} \lambda_M^{(2)} \dots \lambda_M^{(i)} .$$

$$(4.11)$$

This determines the leading power in  $\varepsilon$ . Defining  $m_i$  as the factor which multiplies the leading  $\varepsilon$ -power in  $c_i$ , and using (C.2), we have

$$c_i = (-1)^i m_i \varepsilon^{-2i(N-i)} + \dots$$
 (4.12)

where the dots stand for subleading order terms when  $\rho_0 \to \infty$ . It is useful to notice that  $c_N = (-1)^N \det(M) = (-1)^N$ , and hence  $m_N = 1$ . In this regime, we can rewrite (4.4) as:

$$\lambda_M^N - \frac{m_1}{\varepsilon^{2(N-1)}} \lambda_M^{N-1} + \dots + (-1)^i \frac{m_i}{\varepsilon^{2i(N-i)}} \lambda_M^{N-i} + \dots + (-1)^{N-1} \frac{m_{N-1}}{\varepsilon^{2(N-1)}} \lambda_M + (-1)^N = 0.$$
(4.13)

We can find the eigenvalues as a function of  $m_i$  solving the previous equation. We just need to substitute in (4.13) the leading term of one eigenvalue found in (C.6), and we will see that only two terms are dominant in the equation. Not considering the rest of the terms, we can solve for each eigenvalue, and find its expression as a function of  $m_i$ 's. However, we have actually already found the solution through the reasoning above. From (4.11), we see that we can write an eigenvalue in terms of the coefficients  $c_i$ , and with (4.12), we write it in terms of  $m_i$ :

$$\lambda_M^{(i)} \sim -\frac{c_i}{c_{i-1}} \sim \frac{m_i}{m_{i-1}} \varepsilon^{-2(N-(2i-1))} , \qquad (4.14)$$

where i = 1, ..., N, and we have defined  $c_0 \equiv 1$  and  $m_0 \equiv 1$ . Now, we are ready to write the entanglement entropy as a function of the factors  $m_i$ , which are easier to compute than the exact eigenvalues. First, we write (3.40) in the following form:

$$S_{\rm EE} = k \operatorname{tr}_f(\log(\lambda_M) L_0) = k \log\left((\lambda_M^{(1)})^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \dots (\lambda_M^{(i)})^{\frac{N-(2i-1)}{2}} \dots (\lambda_M^{(N)})^{-\frac{N-1}{2}}\right).$$
(4.15)

Substituting (4.14) in the previous formula, we obtain the leading term of the entanglement entropy in the UV cutoff:

$$S_{\rm EE} = k \log \left( \frac{m_1 m_2 \dots m_{N-1}}{\varepsilon^{4 {\rm tr}_f(L_0 L_0)}} \right) \,. \tag{4.16}$$

To evaluate  $m_i$ , as a function of the background and the boundary interval, we use (4.12). That is, we first evaluate  $c_i$  using (4.5) as a function of the traces  $M_i$  to leading order in  $\varepsilon$ , and from there we read off  $m_i$  using (4.12).

#### 4.1.1 Example: SL(3) excited states

As an example, we evaluate (4.16) for excited states in SL(3) Chern-Simons theory. The connections are given by

$$a_x = L_1 + q_{(2)}L_{-1} + q_{(3)}W_{-2}^{(3)}, \quad \bar{a}_x = L_{-1} + \bar{q}_{(2)}L_1 + \bar{q}_{(3)}W_2^{(3)},$$
 (4.17)

with

$$q_{(2)} = -\frac{C_2(\lambda)}{t_1^{(2)}}, \quad q_{(3)} = \frac{C_3(\lambda)}{t_2^{(3)}}, \quad (4.18)$$

and the Casimirs are given by

$$C_s(\lambda) \equiv \frac{1}{s} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (\lambda_i)^s , \qquad (4.19)$$

where  $\lambda_i$  are the eigenvalues of  $a_x$ ,  $t_j^{(s)}$  are the traces in (A.10), and the definitions for  $\bar{a}_x$ are analogous. In this notation, a higher spin black hole corresponds to a solution with  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}$  (real eigenvalues), while a conical defect is a solution with  $\lambda_i \in i\mathbb{Z}_3$  (imaginary eigenvalues that exponentiate to the center of SL(3,  $\mathbb{C}$ )). In this notation the conformal dimensions and spin-3 charge of the background solution (for general N) are

$$h = \frac{c}{N(N^2 - 1)} C_2(\lambda), \qquad \bar{h} = \frac{c}{N(N^2 - 1)} C_2(\bar{\lambda}),$$
$$w_3 = \left(\frac{c}{N(N^2 - 1)}\right)^{3/2} C_3(\lambda), \qquad \bar{w}_3 = \left(\frac{c}{N(N^2 - 1)}\right)^{3/2} C_3(\bar{\lambda}), \qquad (4.20)$$

which follow the conventions in [23].

The relevant traces to evaluate the Wilson line are

$$c_1 = -\text{tr}_f(M) = -\frac{m_1}{\varepsilon^4} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-2}), \qquad 2c_2 = \text{tr}_f(M)^2 - \text{tr}_f(M^2) = \frac{2m_2}{\varepsilon^4} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{-2}).$$
(4.21)

From (4.16), and setting N = 3, we have

$$S_{\rm EE} = 2k \log\left(\frac{\sqrt{m_1 m_2}}{\varepsilon^4}\right), \quad c = 24k . \tag{4.22}$$

The values of  $m_{1,2}$  for a connection of the form (4.17), as a function of its eigenvalues, are

$$m_{1} = \frac{4}{\Pi} \left[ (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2})e^{\lambda_{3}\Delta x} + (\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{3})e^{\lambda_{1}\Delta x} + (\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{1})e^{\lambda_{2}\Delta x} \right] \times \\ \left[ (\bar{\lambda}_{2} - \bar{\lambda}_{1})e^{-\bar{\lambda}_{3}\Delta x} + (\bar{\lambda}_{3} - \bar{\lambda}_{2})e^{-\bar{\lambda}_{1}\Delta x} + (\bar{\lambda}_{1} - \bar{\lambda}_{3})e^{-\bar{\lambda}_{2}\Delta x} \right] ,$$

$$m_{2} = \frac{4}{\Pi} \left[ (\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1})e^{-\lambda_{3}\Delta x} + (\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{2})e^{-\lambda_{1}\Delta x} + (\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{3})e^{-\lambda_{2}\Delta x} \right] \times \\ \left[ (\bar{\lambda}_{1} - \bar{\lambda}_{2})e^{\bar{\lambda}_{3}\Delta x} + (\bar{\lambda}_{2} - \bar{\lambda}_{3})e^{\bar{\lambda}_{1}\Delta x} + (\bar{\lambda}_{3} - \bar{\lambda}_{1})e^{\bar{\lambda}_{2}\Delta x} \right] , \qquad (4.23)$$

where  $\sum_{i} \lambda_i = 0$ , and

$$\prod \equiv \prod_{i>j} (\lambda_i - \lambda_j)(\bar{\lambda}_i - \bar{\lambda}_j) .$$
(4.24)

We would like to emphasize that (4.23) is a different function of the background charges for the spin-3 black hole relative to those reported in [1, 2]. The reason is simple: here we used (4.2), where the spatial  $(a_x, \bar{a}_x)$  contain the information about the spin charges [19, 20, 24], while in [1, 2] the holomorphic version of the connection was used [22]. What is interesting to note is that our results for entanglement entropy will reproduce the same answer as the holomorphic proposal in section 5 of [2]. The holomorphic proposal was designed such that the Wilson line was only influenced by the portion of the connection that contained the charges explicitly (with the weakness that the composite line was not gauge covariant); we achieved the same result using (4.2) with the advantage that gauge covariance is restored.

It is interesting to evaluate the small interval expansion of (4.22). We get

$$S_{\rm EE} = \frac{c}{3} \log\left(\frac{\Delta x}{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{k}{12} \left(\sum_{i} \lambda_i^2 + \sum_{i} \bar{\lambda}_i^2\right) \Delta x^2 + O(\Delta x^4)$$
$$= \frac{c}{3} \log\left(\frac{\Delta x}{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{c}{(12)^2} \left(C_2(\lambda) + C_2(\bar{\lambda})\right) \Delta x^2 + O(\Delta x^4). \tag{4.25}$$

This correction to the vacuum entanglement is universal for a  $CFT_2$  and it was computed [3]: the reported result there was

$$S_{\text{EE,excited state}} - S_{\text{EE,vacuum}} = \frac{h + \bar{h}}{6} (\Delta x)^2 + O((\Delta x)^4) , \qquad (4.26)$$

which agrees perfectly with (4.25), since (4.20) implies

$$\frac{h+\bar{h}}{6} = \frac{c}{(12)^2} \left( C_2(\bar{\lambda}) + C_2(\lambda) \right) . \tag{4.27}$$

There is another comparison that one could make. There has been progress in evaluating entanglement entropy in CFT<sub>2</sub> with  $W_3$  symmetry at finite spin-3 chemical potential [26, 27]. Our results for EE are casted as function of the charges of the background, i.e. the eigenvalues of  $(a_x, \bar{a}_x)$ , and in order to make the comparison, we need to cast the charges as function of the potentials. This was done in [2, 26, 27] using holomorphic variables, but those results apply here as well. The agreement between the bulk and boundary computation was already noted in [26].

#### 4.2 Method II

Our second method starts from (3.62) which reads

$$S_{\rm EE} = k \, \log \left[ \lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N}(M) \right] \,, \tag{4.28}$$

and from (3.46) we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N}(M) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N}\left(\left[e^{-L_0\rho_0}e^{\Delta a_x}e^{L_0\rho_0}\right]\left[e^{L_0\rho_0}e^{-\Delta\bar{a}_x}e^{-L_0\rho_0}\right]\right),\qquad(4.29)$$

where we used (3.48) and (4.1). The simplicity in this formula is that we only need to evaluate one trace; the difficulty is that the representation  $\mathcal{R}_N$  can be rather horrible. In any case, our objective is to extract the most divergent piece in  $\rho_0$  and simultaneously make a small interval expansion.

To understand the divergent structure we first consider the vacuum configuration, i.e.

$$a_x \to a_{\text{vac}} = L_1, \quad \bar{a}_x \to \bar{a}_{\text{vac}} = L_{-1}, \qquad (4.30)$$

which is simply  $AdS_3$  in Poincare coordinates. Then it is rather simple to show that

$$e^{-L_0\rho_0}e^{\Delta a_{\text{vac}}}e^{L_0\rho_0} = \mathbb{1} + e^{\rho_0}\Delta xL_1 + \frac{1}{2}e^{2\rho_0}(\Delta x)^2L_1^2 + \dots$$
$$e^{L_0\rho_0}e^{-\Delta\bar{a}_{\text{vac}}}e^{-L_0\rho_0} = \mathbb{1} - e^{\rho_0}\Delta xL_{-1} + \frac{1}{2}e^{2\rho_0}(\Delta x)^2L_{-1}^2 + \dots$$
(4.31)

However this series terminates at some finite power of  $L_{\pm 1}$ , and the reason being that the matrices  $e^{\pm L_0 \rho_0}$  will not give an arbitrarily divergent power of  $e^{\rho_0}$  as we showed in appendix C. The largest power of  $e^{\rho_0}$  is determined by the largest eigenvalue of  $L_0$  which in this case is  $\operatorname{tr}_f(L_0 L_0)$ ; this follows from the definition of  $\mathcal{R}_N$  which sets  $\overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}_N}^{hw} = \overrightarrow{l_0}$ . Furthermore, this implies that  $L_{\pm 1}$  are nilpotent matrices of degree  $\widehat{n} + 1^7$ :

$$(L_1)^{\hat{n}+1} = 0 = (L_{-1})^{\hat{n}+1}, \quad \hat{n} \equiv 2 \operatorname{tr}_f(L_0 L_0) = \frac{N(N^2 - 1)}{6}.$$
 (4.32)

Therefore, for the vacuum we find

$$\lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N}(M_{\operatorname{vac}}) = \frac{1}{(\hat{n}!)^2} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N} \left[ (L_1)^{\hat{n}} (L_{-1})^{\hat{n}} \right] (\Delta x)^{2\hat{n}} e^{2\hat{n}\rho_0} , \qquad (4.33)$$

where we used (4.31) and (4.32). Hence

$$S_{\text{EE,vac}} = k \log \left[ \lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \text{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N}(M_{\text{vac}}) \right]$$
$$= \frac{c}{3} \log(\frac{\Delta x}{\varepsilon}), \qquad (4.34)$$

which is the well known universal result for the vacuum entanglement entropy in a CFT<sub>2</sub>. Recall that c is given by (2.6) and  $\varepsilon = e^{-\rho_0}.^8$ 

For the general connections of the form (4.2), the logic is rather similar. Since

$$e^{-L_0\rho_0}W_{-s+1}^{(s)}e^{L_0\rho_0} = e^{-(s-1)\rho_0}W_{-s+1}^{(s)}, \quad e^{L_0\rho_0}W_{s-1}^{(s)}e^{-L_0\rho_0} = e^{-(s-1)\rho_0}W_{s-1}^{(s)}, \quad (4.35)$$

adding background charges does not affect the most leading power of  $e^{\rho_0}$ , but it will affect the coefficient in front of  $e^{\hat{n}\rho_0}$ . If we Taylor expand as in (4.31), schematically we will have

$$e^{-L_{0}\rho_{0}}e^{\Delta a_{x}}e^{L_{0}\rho_{0}} \sim 1 + \Delta x (e^{\rho_{0}}L_{1} + e^{-(s-1)\rho_{0}}q_{(s)}W_{-s+1}^{(s)}) + \frac{1}{2}(\Delta x)^{2}(e^{\rho_{0}}L_{1} + e^{-(s-1)\rho_{0}}q_{(s)}W_{-s+1}^{(s)})^{2} + \dots$$
(4.36)

We are still interested solely on the terms which grow like  $e^{\hat{n}\rho_0}$  in (4.36). The complication now is that this can be achieved, for example, by having additional n powers of  $L_1$  interlaced

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Note that  $\hat{n}$  is an even integer number, since the product (N)(N+1)(N-1) is always a multiple of 12 for  $N \ge 2$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>It is interesting to note that this derivation complements nicely the choice of representation in [2]: another condition that determines  $\mathcal{R}_N$  is asking that the most divergent piece in the composite Wilson line scale like  $(\Delta x)^{4 \operatorname{tr}_f(L_0^2)}$  as in (4.33). This power of  $\Delta x$  depends on the representation and gives the correct coefficient for the log piece in  $S_{\text{EE}}$ .

with n' powers of  $W_{-s+1}^{(s)}$  such that  $n - (s-1)n' = \hat{n}$ . But say we are only interested in the first correction in  $\Delta x$  away from the vacuum. Then, by inspection of (4.36), we get that the relevant term comes from terms involving  $L_1$  and  $L_{-1}$  solely:

$$e^{-L_0\rho_0}e^{\Delta a_x}e^{L_0\rho_0} = \frac{1}{\hat{n}!}(L_1)^{\hat{n}}(\Delta x)^{\hat{n}}e^{\hat{n}\rho_0} + \frac{1}{(\hat{n}+2)!}(\Delta x)^{\hat{n}+2}q_{(2)}\mathcal{T}_{\hat{n}+2} + O(e^{(\hat{n}-1)\rho_0},(\Delta x)^{\hat{n}+4}),$$
(4.37)

where

$$\mathcal{T}_{\hat{n}+2} \equiv L_1 L_{-1} (L_1)^{\hat{n}} + L_1 L_1 L_{-1} (L_1)^{\hat{n}-1} + \dots + (L_1)^{\hat{n}} L_{-1} L_1.$$
(4.38)

Basically the first correction in  $\Delta x$  comes from a term in (4.36) that has  $\hat{n} + 1$  powers of  $L_1$  and one power of  $L_{-1}$ , with the condition that  $L_{-1}$  cannot sit at the edge of the string. It is useful to notice that (4.38) can be rewritten as:

$$\mathcal{T}_{\hat{n}+2} = -(\hat{n}/6)(\hat{n}+2)(\hat{n}+1)(L_1)^{\hat{n}}.$$
(4.39)

(See appendix A.1 for details). Analogously, for the barred sector we have

$$e^{-L_{0}\rho_{0}}e^{\Delta\bar{a}_{x}}e^{L_{0}\rho_{0}} = \frac{1}{\hat{n}!}(L_{-1})^{\hat{n}}(\Delta x)^{\hat{n}}e^{\hat{n}\rho_{0}} + \frac{1}{(\hat{n}+2)!}(\Delta x)^{\hat{n}+2}\bar{q}_{(2)}\bar{\mathcal{T}}_{\hat{n}+2} + O(e^{(\hat{n}-1)\rho_{0}},(\Delta x)^{\hat{n}+4}),$$
(4.40)

where

$$\bar{\mathcal{T}}_{\hat{n}+2} \equiv L_{-1}L_1(L_{-1})^{\hat{n}} + L_{-1}L_{-1}L_1(L_{-1})^{\hat{n}-1} + \dots + (L_{-1})^{\hat{n}}L_1L_{-1}, \qquad (4.41)$$

which can be as well rewritten as  $\overline{T}_{\hat{n}+2} = -(\hat{n}/6)(\hat{n}+2)(\hat{n}+1)(L_{-1})^{\hat{n}}$ .

Using (4.37) and (4.40) in (4.29) we find that<sup>9</sup>

$$S_{\rm EE} = k \log \left[ \lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}_N}(M) \right]$$
  
=  $\frac{c}{3} \log \left( \frac{\Delta x}{\varepsilon} \right) - k \frac{\hat{n}}{6} (q_{(2)} + \bar{q}_{(2)}) (\Delta x)^2 + O((\Delta x)^4)$   
=  $\frac{c}{3} \log \left( \frac{\Delta x}{\varepsilon} \right) + \frac{h + \bar{h}}{6} (\Delta x)^2 + O((\Delta x)^4),$  (4.42)

We can compare as well with the universal correction of the entanglement entropy for the vacuum state due to the insertion of a single primary field of weight  $(h, \bar{h})$  [3]. The results perfectly agree. This provides a non-trivial check of our method to compute holographic entanglement entropy.

## 5 Discussion

We have explicitly constructed and evaluated a Wilson line in  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$  Chern-Simons theory with the purpose of computing holographic entanglement entropy in higher spin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>It is interesting to note that there is no linear correction in  $\Delta x$  to (4.42). In the Chern-Simons language this comes from the Drinfeld-Sokolov decomposition, and the fact that we have no low fractional spin generators in the Lie algebra.

theories. We showed that the two proposals [1, 2] are consistent with each other. Furthermore, we checked that our results are in perfect agreement with the universal corrections computed in [3] using CFT<sub>2</sub> techniques. This is a non-trivial test that  $W_{\mathcal{R}}(C)$  is an observable that can generalize the notion of geometry in this class of theories. Our results, applied to SL(3) higher spin gravity, are as well in agreement with the perturbative results reported in [26, 27] for CFT<sub>2</sub> with  $W_3$  symmetry.

We would like to end this work with some open questions and future directions:

- 1. Despite our very general results, our derivations fall short in describing entanglement when infinitely many higher spin fields are present. The simplest example of such a theory would be  $hs[\lambda] \times hs[\lambda]$  Chern-Simons theory.  $W_{\mathcal{R}}(C)$  should still capture both thermal and entanglement entropy in this case. The obstruction is that both methods developed in section 4 use heavily finite dimensional representations of the algebra in order to analyze (3.25). Evaluating a Wilson line with gauge group  $hs[\lambda]$ is not impossible, but some tricks might be needed to apply our results to the more general case.
- 2. It was noticed both in [1, 2] that the entanglement entropy on a higher spin black hole violated strong sub-additivity. In both papers, the holomorphic formulation of the black hole was used. Here we used canonical description of the higher spin black hole, along the lines of [19, 20]. What is rather interesting is that for N = 3 our results in (4.23)–(4.22) behave accordingly to the strong subadditivity bounds, i.e. EE is a monotonic function in the black hole regime.<sup>10</sup> It is not clear under which conditions holographic entanglement entropy should obey strong sub-additivity: higher derivative corrections or deviations from the null energy conditions could violate these inequalities [28, 29]. It is not obvious how non-local interactions tamper our expectations and why our results are so sensitive to boundary conditions. Still it would be interesting to study if the decomposition (4.2) would give the desired behavior for  $S_{\rm EE}$ .
- 3. In [16] a new "spin" to the Wilson line was given by adding higher spin charges to the representation  $\mathcal{R}$ . This is not only a novel definition in the bulk, but a new and rather mysterious observable in the CFT. The discussion presented here easily accommodates for this new observable, with one caveat: what is the generalization of the composite Wilson line (3.4)?  $W_{\mathcal{R}_N}^{\text{comp}}(C)$  is designed to only capture entanglement entropy. Perhaps the proof in section 3.3.2 can be adjusted to instead find a composite Wilson line that gives spin-3 entanglement [16].
- 4. One aspect that has been not studied properly in this context is entanglement entropy for multiple intervals. Homology conditions, and analogous properties of the HRT formula [15] should be tested in this context as well. Understanding the effect of junctions when several Wilson lines are present in the bulk might provide better insight to global properties of these operators and their interpretation in the CFT.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$ This was noted by Jochem Knuttel for a higher spin black hole in the principal embedding theory of SL(3), and we are grateful of his observation.

- 5. It will be rather useful to have further independent derivations of entanglement in a  $CFT_2$  that could corroborate our results. This could be made either by considering the large central charge limit of theories with  $W_N$  symmetry (along the lines of [30–32]), by using modular properties of the  $CFT_2$ , or by exploiting conformal perturbation theory. Some progress has been made in conformal perturbation by [26, 27, 33]. We hope to report on related topics soon [34].
- 6. Our discussion here is strictly classical. Quantum corrections to entanglement entropy in  $AdS_3/CFT_2$  have been discussed in [35–38]. It would be interesting to see if the expectation value of the Wilson line has anything to add to this topic.

## Acknowledgments

We are very grateful of Nabil Iqbal, Juan I. Jottar, Jochem Knuttel and Mukund Rangamani for discussions, and we particularly thank Martin Ammon, Nabil Iqbal and Juan I. Jottar for helpful comments on the manuscript. This work was supported by Nederlandse Organisatie voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek (NWO) via a Vidi grant. AC was as well supported in part by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. PHYS-1066293 and the hospitality of the Aspen Center for Physics.

## A Conventions for $sl(N,\mathbb{R})$ algebra

We follow the same conventions as in [23]. A convenient basis for the  $sl(N,\mathbb{R})$  algebra is represented by  $\{L_0, L_{\pm 1}\}$ , the generators in the  $sl(2,\mathbb{R})$  subalgebra, and  $W_j^{(s)}$ , the higher spin generators with  $j = -(s-1), \ldots (s-1)$ . Their commutation relations are:

$$[L_i, L_{i'}] = (i - i')L_{i+i'}, \qquad (A.1)$$

$$[L_i, W_j^{(s)}] = (i(s-1) - j)W_{i+j}^{(s)}.$$
(A.2)

In this notation,  $L_0$  and  $W_0^{(s)}$  are elements of the Cartan subalgebra, and the rest of generators are raising and lowering operators. These commutation relations represent the principal embedding of  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$ . We will often use the notation

$$H_m \equiv W_0^{(m)}, \quad m = 2, \dots, N,$$
 (A.3)

where  $H_2 = L_0$ .

An explicit representation for the other  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$  generators, which is independent of the representation, is as follows:

$$W_j^{(s)} = (-1)^{s-j-1} \frac{(s+j-1)!}{(2s-2)!} \underbrace{[L_{-1}, [L_{-1}, \dots, [L_{-1}]]}_{s-j-1 \text{ terms}}, L_1^{s-1}] \dots]].$$
(A.4)

With this definition we have

$$uW_{s-1}^{(s)} = (L_1)^{s-1}, \quad W_{-s+1}^{(s)} = (L_{-1})^{s-1}.$$
 (A.5)

We write the fundamental representation of  $sl(N,\mathbb{R})$  as follows. The  $\{L_0, L_{\pm 1}\}$  generators for the principal embedding of  $sl(2,\mathbb{R})$  are

$$L_{1} = -\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \cdots & & & & 0 \\ \sqrt{N-1} & 0 & & \cdots & & \\ 0 & \sqrt{2(N-2)} & 0 & & & \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & & \\ & & \sqrt{|i(N-i)|} & 0 & & \\ 0 & \cdots & & & \sqrt{(N-1)} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.6)$$

$$L_{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sqrt{N-1} & \cdots & & 0 & \\ \vdots & 0 & \sqrt{2(N-2)} & & & \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & & & \\ & & 0 & \sqrt{|i(N-i)|} & & \\ & & & \ddots & \ddots & \\ & & & 0 & \sqrt{(N-1)} \\ 0 & \cdots & & & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.7)$$

and

$$L_0 = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{N-1}{2}, \frac{N-3}{2}, \dots, \frac{N+1-2i}{2}, \dots, -\frac{N-3}{2}, -\frac{N-1}{2}\right) .$$
(A.8)

The Cartan-Killing form on  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$  is given by

0 ...

$$\mathrm{tr}_{f}W_{j}^{(s)}W_{j'}^{(r)} = t_{j}^{(s)}\delta^{r,s}\delta_{j,-j'}, \qquad (A.9)$$

and

$$t_j^{(s)} = (-1)^j \frac{(s-1)!^2(s+j-1)!(s-j-1)!}{(2s-1)!(2s-2)!} N \prod_{i=1}^{s-1} (N^2 - i^2) .$$
(A.10)

We always use the symbol " $tr_f$ " to denote the trace in the fundamental representation.

The Killing form and the Casimir invariants of  $sl(N,\mathbb{R})$  are defined as follows. We can construct N-1 symmetric tensors which are regarded as the Killing forms of the algebra. The m-th order tensor is:

$$h_{a_1...a_m} = \operatorname{tr}_f(T_{(a_1} \dots T_{a_m})),$$
 (A.11)

where m = 2, ..., N, and  $T_a$  are all the generators of the algebra. The second order Killing form, given by (A.9), is the metric of the Lie algebra:

$$\eta_{ab} = \operatorname{tr}_f(T_a T_b) \,. \tag{A.12}$$

The Lie algebra metric acts lowering and raising indexes  $T^a = \eta^{ab}T_b$ . We can define as well N-1 invariant Casimirs, which compute with all the elements of the algebra. The *m*-th order Casimir element is:

$$C_m = h^{a_1 \dots a_m} T_{a_1} \dots T_{a_m} . (A.13)$$

It will be useful, however, to re-define Casimirs such that the following condition is met: the Casimir for  $T_a \in sl(2, \mathbb{R})$  vanishes for m > 2. In particular if we pick  $T_a = L_0$ , this can achieved by re-defining the Killing forms such that

$$h_{\underbrace{L_0...L_0}_{m}} = 0$$
, if  $m > 2$ . (A.14)

This choice will assure that when we set  $P \sim L_0$ , i.e. we have just a massive particle with (3.7), then  $c_2 \neq 0$  while  $c_m = 0$  otherwise.

For  $j \neq 0$ , we built the generators  $W_j^{(s)}$  in (A.4) such that they are ladder operators, and hence do not have diagonal elements in the fundamental representation. On the contrary,  $L_0$  is a diagonal matrix. As a consequence:

$$h_{L_0...L_0W_j^{(s)}} = \operatorname{tr}_f \left( L_{(0} \dots L_0 W_{j)}^{(s)} \right) = 0.$$
 (A.15)

Furthermore, one can show that the only non-null Killing forms that involve  $L_0$  are

$$h_{L_0\dots L_0 H_s} = \operatorname{tr}_f \left( \underbrace{L_0 \dots L_0}_{s-1} H_s \right) \,. \tag{A.16}$$

where  $H_s$  is given by (A.3).

#### A.1 Further identities

In this appendix we will use the above definitions of  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$  to simplify

$$\mathcal{T}_{\hat{n}+2} \equiv L_1 L_{-1} (L_1)^{\hat{n}} + L_1 L_1 L_{-1} (L_1)^{\hat{n}-1} + \dots + (L_1)^{\hat{n}} L_{-1} L_1, \qquad (A.17)$$

as defined in (4.38). We start by considering the first and last term in  $\mathcal{T}_{\hat{n}+2}$ :

$$T_{1} \equiv L_{1}L_{-1}(L_{1})^{\hat{n}} + (L_{1})^{\hat{n}}L_{-1}L_{1} = 2L_{0}(L_{1})^{\hat{n}} - 2(L_{1})^{\hat{n}}L_{0}$$
$$= 2[L_{0}, (L_{1})^{\hat{n}}]$$
$$= -2\hat{n}(L_{1})^{\hat{n}} .$$
(A.18)

In the first equality we used  $[L_1, L_{-1}] = 2L_0$  to swap  $L_{-1}$  with  $L_1$ , and  $(L_1)^{\hat{n}+1} = 0$ . From second to third line we used (A.5) and (A.1) to infer what  $[L_0, (L_1)^{\hat{n}}]$  is. We consider now the second and the next-to-last term in (A.17):

$$T_{2} \equiv L_{1}^{2} L_{-1} (L_{1})^{\hat{n}-1} + (L_{1})^{\hat{n}-1} L_{-1} L_{1}^{2} = 2(L_{1} L_{0} (L_{1})^{\hat{n}-1} - (L_{1})^{\hat{n}-1} L_{0} L_{1}) + T_{1}$$
  
=  $2((L_{0} L_{1} + L_{1})(L_{1})^{\hat{n}-1} - (L_{1})^{\hat{n}-1} (L_{1} L_{0} - L_{1})) + T_{1}$   
=  $-2 \cdot 2\hat{n} (L_{1})^{\hat{n}} + 4(L_{1})^{\hat{n}}$ . (A.19)

In the first equality, we interchanged  $L_{-1}$  with  $L_1$ , and identify two of the terms with  $T_1$ . From second to third, we swap  $L_0$  with  $L_1$ . We use again  $[L_0, (L_1)^{\hat{n}}]$  to get the fourth line. We repeat a similar procedure for  $T_3$ :

$$T_{3} \equiv L_{1}^{3}L_{-1}(L_{1})^{\hat{n}-2} + (L_{1})^{\hat{n}-2}L_{-1}L_{1}^{3} = 2(L_{1}^{2}L_{0}(L_{1})^{\hat{n}-2} - (L_{1})^{\hat{n}-2}L_{0}L_{1}^{2}) + T_{2}$$
  
=  $-3 \cdot 2\hat{n}(L_{1})^{\hat{n}} + 3 \cdot 4(L_{1})^{\hat{n}}$  (A.20)

In  $\mathcal{T}_{\hat{n}+2}$  there are  $\hat{n}/2$  pair of terms of this type ( $\hat{n}$  is always an even number as defined in (4.32)). We can repeat the previous trick for every term  $T_r$ , where  $r = 1, \ldots, \hat{n}/2$ . We first swap  $L_{-1}$  with  $L_1$  and identify  $T_{r-1}$ . In the rest of the terms we exchange  $L_0$  with  $L_1$ , to obtain only elements proportional to  $(L_1)^{\hat{n}}$ . We will easily notice that  $T_r$  will be of the form:

$$T_r = -2r\hat{n}(L_1)^{\hat{n}} + 4(1+2+\ldots+(r/2-1))(L_1)^{\hat{n}}.$$
 (A.21)

To find  $\mathcal{T}_{\hat{n}+2}$ , we need to sum over all  $T_r$ . Using little bit of algebra, we arrive to:

$$\mathcal{T}_{\hat{n}+2} = \sum_{r=1}^{\hat{n}uu/2} T_r = -\frac{\hat{n}}{6}(\hat{n}+2)(\hat{n}+1)(L_1)^{\hat{n}}$$
(A.22)

An analogous procedure can be repeated for (4.41) to find:

$$\bar{\mathcal{T}}_{\hat{n}+2} = -\frac{\hat{n}}{6}(\hat{n}+2)(\hat{n}+1)(L_{-1})^{\hat{n}} .$$
(A.23)

## **B** Representation theory of simple Lie algebras

All definitions and useful properties of representation theory utilized in this work can be found in general text books (we particularly used [39] and [40]). However, we would like to make a special comment about the normalization chosen for the scalar product in the Lie algebra.

We consider a general simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  with dimension g, prepared in the Cartan-Weyl basis:

$$[H_i, H_j] = 0, \qquad (B.1)$$

$$[H_i, E_\alpha] = \alpha_{(i)} E_\alpha \,, \tag{B.2}$$

where the indexes run as i, j = 1, ..., h, and  $\alpha = 1, ..., g-h$ . The generators  $H_i$  are elements of the Cartan subalgebra  $\mathfrak{h}$ , and  $E_{\alpha}$  are ladder operators. We can associate a *h*-dimensional vector  $\vec{\alpha} = (\alpha_{(1)} \ldots \alpha_{(h)})$  to every element  $E_{\alpha}$ . These vectors  $\vec{\alpha}$  are called *roots*, and they belong to the dual space of the Cartan subalgebra, denoted by  $\mathfrak{h}^*$ .

We can define a scalar product in  $\mathfrak{g}$  through the Killing form. In the basis (B.1), the Killing forms will always follow:

$$(H_i, H_j) = \delta_{ij}, \qquad (H_i, E_\beta) = 0, \qquad (E_\alpha, E_\beta) = \delta_{\alpha+\beta,0}, \qquad (B.3)$$

where  $\delta_{ij}$  is a Kronecker delta. Moreover, we can define a bilinear form in  $\mathfrak{h}^*$ , denoted by

 $\langle \ldots, \ldots \rangle$ , which is directly related to the Killing form in  $\mathfrak{g}$ :

$$\langle \vec{\alpha}, \vec{\beta} \rangle = (H_{\alpha}, H_{\beta}) = \sum_{i} \alpha_{(i)} \beta_{(i)} \,. \tag{B.4}$$

We would like to remark that in this work we have used the following convention for the Killing forms in  $\mathfrak{g}$ :

$$(H_i, H_j) = \operatorname{tr}_f(H_i, H_j), \qquad (H_i, E_\beta) = \operatorname{tr}_f(H_i, E_\beta), \qquad (E_\alpha, E_\beta) = \operatorname{tr}_f(E_\alpha, E_\beta), \quad (B.5)$$

which obviously follows (B.3), but with an overall normalization constant.

#### C Details on section 3.3.2

In this appendix we provide the details of deriving (3.52) in section 3.3.2.

We will find what is the growth of  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_m$  with  $\rho_0$  given in (3.52). Following the logic used in section 3.3.1, we first look at the limit case  $M \in SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  and make use of the fundamental representation. From (3.46) and (3.48) we have

$$M = e^{-2L_0\rho_0} e^{\Delta a_x} e^{2L_0\rho_0} e^{-\Delta \bar{a}_x} , \qquad (C.1)$$

where for now  $\Delta a_x$  and  $\Delta \bar{a}_x$  live in  $sl(2,\mathbb{R})$ . In the limit  $\rho_0 \to \infty$ , the eigenvalues M can be approximated by its leading order term in  $\varepsilon \equiv e^{-\rho_0}$ :

$$\lambda_M^{(j)} \sim f_j(\Delta x) \varepsilon^{-4n_j} \,. \tag{C.2}$$

The index j runs from 1 to N. The numbers  $n_j$  are integers whose value depends only on the  $b(\rho)$ , and  $f_j$  are continuous functions of  $\Delta x$  whose behavior depends on  $\Delta a_x$  and  $\Delta \bar{a}_x$ . Considering  $L_0$  in the fundamental representation (A.8), we see from (C.1) that the maximum power of  $e^{\rho_0}$  in M will be 2(N-1), and then  $\{n_j\}_{\text{max}} = (N-1)/2$ .

We know that the eigenvalues of  $M \in \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  follow (3.43). Consequently, the same relation will hold for their leading terms. Using the freedom to  $z \to z^{-1}$ , we pick  $\lambda_M^{(1)}$  to retain the most negative power of  $\varepsilon$ . Then,  $n_1$  will be the highest eigenvalue of  $L_0$ . For simplicity, we redefine  $f_1(\Delta x) \equiv \kappa^{-2(N-1)}$ . Then, we find that the leading term of the eigenvalues of  $M \in \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})$  follows

$$\{\lambda_M^{(j)}\} = \{(\kappa \varepsilon)^{-2(N-1)}, (\kappa \varepsilon)^{-2(N-3)}, \dots, (\kappa \varepsilon)^{-2(N-(2j-1))}, \dots, (\kappa \varepsilon)^{2(N-3)}, (\kappa \varepsilon)^{2(N-1)}\}.$$
(C.3)

We have  $\Delta \alpha_2 > 0$  according to (3.45), and comparing (C.3) with (3.44) gives

$$e^{\frac{N-1}{2}\Delta\tilde{\alpha}_2} = \lambda_M^{(1)} \sim f_1(\Delta x)\varepsilon^{-2(N-1)}, \qquad (C.4)$$

This is the leading divergent behavior of  $\Delta \alpha_2$  when the background connections approach the  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  limit.

We now turn on the vevs for the higher spin charges in the connection. M is still of the form (C.1), with the only difference that the elements to  $\Delta a_x$  and  $\Delta \bar{a}_x$  belong to  $sl(N, \mathbb{R})$ ,

while preserving the boundary condition (3.49). Because we assume continuity with the  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  limit, when the background has higher spin particles, we can characterize  $(\lambda_M)_i$  as follows:<sup>11</sup>

$$(\lambda_M)_j \sim g_j(\Delta x)\varepsilon^{-4n_j}$$
 . (C.5)

Since  $b(\rho)$  does not change in the presence of higher spin charges, each eigenvalue remains with the same leading power of  $\varepsilon$ :  $n_j$  is the same that in (C.2). However, adding new elements to  $a_x$  and  $\bar{a}_x$  does change  $f_j$  into a different function  $g_j$ . Consequently, connecting continuously the higher spin charges to (C.3), we can characterize the leading term of the eigenvalues of M as:

$$\{\lambda_M^{(j)}\} = \{g_1 \varepsilon^{-2(N-1)}, g_2 \varepsilon^{-2(N-3)}, \dots, g_j \varepsilon^{-2(N-(2j-1))}, \dots, g_{N-1} \varepsilon^{2(N-3)}, g_N \varepsilon^{2(N-1)}\}.$$
(C.6)

We assume continuity in  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_i$ , and we know that the leading  $\rho_0$ -dependence in the eigenvalues is always the same. Therefore, we infer that when we connect the higher spin elements,  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2$  has the same  $\rho_0$  power that in (C.4) while  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_i$ , i > 2 remains  $\rho_0$ -independent:

$$e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2} \sim e^{4\rho_0}, \quad \text{and} \quad e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_i} \sim 1, \quad i > 2.$$
 (C.7)

Although the analysis has been done for the fundamental representation, a solution to (3.36) must be independent of the representation. Consequently, for any representation in the principal embedding, the leading term of  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_m$ , m > 2 does not depend on  $\rho_0$ .

## D Non-principal embedding

The discussion in the main sections focused on the principal embedding of  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  in  $SL(N, \mathbb{R})$ . In this appendix we will extend the results of section 3 to other embeddings. Actually the discussion in subsections 3.1–3.2 is basically embedding independent (any modification is trivial); only portions of subsection 3.3 need to be revisited.

The first modification is  $L_0$ : the Cartan element in the  $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$  subalgebra is not (A.8) for non-principal embeddings. This fact affects our reasoning in subsection 3.3.1. Equations (3.43) and (3.44) must be replaced by:

$$\{\lambda_M^{(j)}\} = \{z^{n_1}, z^{n_2}, \dots, z^{n_{N-1}}, z^{n_N}\},$$
(D.1)

and

$$\{e^{\lambda_{\mathbb{P}}^{(j)}}\} = \{e^{n_1 \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2}, e^{n_2 \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2}, \dots, e^{n_{N-1} \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2}, e^{n_N \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2}\},$$
(D.2)

where  $n_j$  with j = 1, ..., N are the eigenvalues of  $L_0$  in the embedding of interest. These eigenvalues will always have as a symmetry:  $n_j = -n_{N-(j-1)}$ . This implies that the relation  $e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2} = z^{\pm 1}$  still holds, and a solution with  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 > 0$  can be found for every embedding. But we should notice that, for non-principal embeddings,  $L_0$  might have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>For high values of the higher spin charges the eigenvalues might cross and suffer a discontinuous change. However, there must be a vicinity where the eigenvalues change continuously when we connect the higher spin particles. In the rest of our analysis we will consider this region.

degenerated eigenvalues. This means that when we connect the higher spin vevs, the ordering is not uniquely determined by the  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  limit. However, all possible matchings following condition (3.45), will give the same solution for  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2$  from equation (3.38). This is because with equation (3.38) we extract from  $\lambda_M$  only the information about the  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  subgroup, which does not depend on how we connect the higher spin vevs. Therefore, the conclusion of the subsection 3.3.1 generalized to every embedding is: all orders of  $\lambda_M$  that accomplish the condition (3.45), give a unique solution for  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2$  from (3.38) that is compatible with  $P_0 \in sl(2,\mathbb{R})$ .

For subsection 3.3.2 the discussion is embedding independent until (3.57). However we would like to comment on equation (3.52), which holds for any embedding, but it was deduced in appendix C specifically for the principal. To prove that this equation is true in general, we must notice that  $\lambda_M$  can be as well characterized by (C.2) for any embedding. However,  $\{n_j\}_{\max}$  is now the maximum eigenvalue of  $L_0$  in the embedding we are interested in. We choose  $\{n_j\}_{\max} \equiv n_1$ . Using (D.2), and imposing  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 > 0$ , we find the analogous to (C.4) for non-principal embeddings:

$$e^{n_1 \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2} = \lambda_M^{(1)} \sim f_1(\Delta x) \varepsilon^{-4n_1}, \qquad (D.3)$$

Turning on the higher spin vevs, and assuming continuity in  $\lambda_M$  and  $\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_i$ , we see conclude that equation (3.52) holds for any embedding.

Following with the analysis of subsection 3.3.2, equation (3.58) does not hold for nonprincipal embeddings since  $\vec{l_0}$  is not dominant. In this case, the maximum value of  $\langle \vec{l_0}, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} \rangle$ is not given when  $\vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} = \vec{l_0}$ , because now  $\vec{l_0}$  has negoative coefficients. To solve this problem, we transform  $\vec{l_0}$  to a basis of simple roots where its coefficients are positive. Any weight can be brought to the fundamental chamber by a unique operation of the Weyl group: we define  $\omega$  as the Weyl reflection that brings  $\vec{l_0}$  to the basis of simple roots where it is dominant:

$$\langle \omega(\vec{l}_0), \vec{\alpha}_i \rangle \ge 0 \qquad i = 1, \dots, N-1.$$
 (D.4)

We are ready to infer which term will be leading in equation (3.57) when  $\rho_0 \to \infty$ . First, we will perform the Weyl reflection  $\omega$  in  $\overrightarrow{p}$ : <sup>12</sup>

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}(e^{\mathbb{P}}) = \sum_{j} e^{\langle \omega(\vec{p}), \, \omega(\vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}) \rangle} = \sum_{k} e^{\langle \omega(\vec{p}), \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(k)} \rangle}.$$
(D.6)

In the limit  $\rho_0 \to \infty$  we only need the maximum value of the inner product. With (D.4) and (3.59), we find that  $\langle \omega(\vec{l}_0), \overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(k)} \rangle$  is maximized when  $\overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(k)} = \overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw}$ , only if  $\vec{l}_0$  is in the fundamental chamber. Using (D.3), we know that the leading term of the sum has the

$$\langle \vec{l}_0, \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)} \rangle = \langle \omega(\vec{l}_0), \omega(\vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}) \rangle = \langle \omega(\vec{l}_0), \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(k)} \rangle.$$
(D.5)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Note that, the inner product is invariant under the Weyl group:

In the last equality we used that the Weyl group reshuffles the weights, and we are allowed to relabel  $\omega(\overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(j)}) = \overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{(k)}$  (the index k is not necessarily equal to j).

inner product  $\langle \omega(\vec{l}_0), \overrightarrow{\Lambda}^{hw}_{\mathcal{R}} \rangle$ :

$$\lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}(e^{\mathbb{P}}) = e^{\langle \omega(\vec{p}), \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} \rangle} = e^{\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 \langle \omega(\vec{l}_0), \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} \rangle + \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_3 \langle \omega(\vec{w}_0), \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} \rangle + \dots + \Delta \tilde{\alpha}_N \langle \omega(\vec{h}_a), \vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} \rangle}.$$
 (D.7)

With an analogous reasoning to the one after equation (3.60), we choose the representation whose highest weight is  $\vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} \propto w(\vec{l_0})$  to extract the parameter  $\Delta \alpha_2$  from equation (D.7). However, we have to notice that all weights of a representation have integer Dynkyn labels, and the same does not holds in general for  $\vec{l_0}$ . Actually, it can be shown that only when the spectrum of particles contains semi-integer spins,  $\vec{l_0}$  will have semi-integer Dynkyn labels [2]. We can easily solve this problem picking the highest weight as  $\vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} = \sigma_{1/2} w(\vec{l_0})$ , where  $\sigma_{1/2} = 2$  when we have semi-integer spins in the spectrum, and  $\sigma_{1/2} = 1$  otherwise. Then, choosing a representation  $\mathcal{R}$  with  $\vec{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} = \sigma_{1/2} w(\vec{l_0})$  we find:

$$\Delta \tilde{\alpha}_2 = \frac{1}{\sigma_{1/2} \operatorname{tr}_f(L_0 L_0)} \log \left[ \lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}(M) \right], \qquad (D.8)$$

where we have used  $\langle \omega(\vec{l}_0), \omega(\vec{l}_0) \rangle = \text{tr}_f(L_0L_0)$ . With (3.32) and (3.34) we arrive to the equation for the entanglement entropy:

$$S_{\rm EE} = \frac{k}{\sigma_{1/2}} \log \left[ \lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}(M) \right], \qquad (D.9)$$

where  $\mathcal{R}$ , as explained before, must be the representation whose highest weight satisfies  $\overrightarrow{\Lambda}_{\mathcal{R}}^{hw} = \sigma_{1/2} w(\overrightarrow{l_0})$ . We must notice that this equation includes as well the result (3.62) for the principal embedding, where  $\sigma_{1/2} = 1$  and  $\overrightarrow{l_0}$  is already dominant. Remembering (3.65), we can see that equation (D.9) is equivalent to the entanglement entropy for a general embedding proposed in [2]. As a conclusion of the generalization of subsection 3.3.2, we have proven that formula (3.1) captures both proposals for the entanglement entropy in higher spin gravity for any embedding.

As a final comment, we would like to add that subsection 3.4 is embedding independent. Moreover, the method to find the leading divergence of the entanglement entropy developed in subsection 4.2 is easily generalizable from the logic presented in the main text.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

## References

- M. Ammon, A. Castro and N. Iqbal, Wilson Lines and Entanglement Entropy in Higher Spin Gravity, JHEP 10 (2013) 110 [arXiv:1306.4338] [INSPIRE].
- [2] J. de Boer and J.I. Jottar, Entanglement Entropy and Higher Spin Holography in AdS<sub>3</sub>, JHEP 04 (2014) 089 [arXiv:1306.4347] [INSPIRE].
- [3] F.C. Alcaraz, M.I. Berganza and G. Sierra, Entanglement of low-energy excitations in Conformal Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 201601 [arXiv:1101.2881] [INSPIRE].

- [4] A. Achucarro and P.K. Townsend, A Chern-Simons Action for Three-Dimensional anti-de Sitter Supergravity Theories, Phys. Lett. B 180 (1986) 89 [INSPIRE].
- [5] E. Witten, (2+1)-Dimensional Gravity as an Exactly Soluble System, Nucl. Phys. B 311 (1988) 46 [INSPIRE].
- [6] M.P. Blencowe, A Consistent Interacting Massless Higher Spin Field Theory in D = (2+1), Class. Quant. Grav. 6 (1989) 443 [INSPIRE].
- [7] A. Campoleoni, S. Fredenhagen, S. Pfenninger and S. Theisen, Asymptotic symmetries of three-dimensional gravity coupled to higher-spin fields, JHEP 11 (2010) 007
   [arXiv:1008.4744] [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Campoleoni, S. Fredenhagen and S. Pfenninger, Asymptotic W-symmetries in three-dimensional higher-spin gauge theories, JHEP 09 (2011) 113 [arXiv:1107.0290]
   [INSPIRE].
- M. Henneaux and S.-J. Rey, Nonlinear W<sub>infinity</sub> as Asymptotic Symmetry of Three-Dimensional Higher Spin Anti-de Sitter Gravity, JHEP 12 (2010) 007
   [arXiv:1008.4579] [INSPIRE].
- [10] X. Bekaert, S. Cnockaert, C. Iazeolla and M.A. Vasiliev, Nonlinear higher spin theories in various dimensions, hep-th/0503128 [INSPIRE].
- [11] M.R. Gaberdiel and R. Gopakumar, *Minimal Model Holography*, *J. Phys.* A 46 (2013) 214002 [arXiv:1207.6697] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. Ammon, M. Gutperle, P. Kraus and E. Perlmutter, Black holes in three dimensional higher spin gravity: A review, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214001 [arXiv:1208.5182] [INSPIRE].
- [13] S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic derivation of entanglement entropy from AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 181602 [hep-th/0603001] [INSPIRE].
- [14] S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Aspects of Holographic Entanglement Entropy, JHEP 08 (2006) 045 [hep-th/0605073] [INSPIRE].
- [15] V.E. Hubeny, M. Rangamani and T. Takayanagi, A Covariant holographic entanglement entropy proposal, JHEP 07 (2007) 062 [arXiv:0705.0016] [INSPIRE].
- [16] E. Hijano and P. Kraus, A new spin on entanglement entropy, JHEP 12 (2014) 041 [arXiv:1406.1804] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Castro, S. Detournay, N. Iqbal and E. Perlmutter, Holographic entanglement entropy and gravitational anomalies, JHEP 07 (2014) 114 [arXiv:1405.2792] [INSPIRE].
- [18] A. Lewkowycz and J. Maldacena, Generalized gravitational entropy, JHEP 08 (2013) 090 [arXiv:1304.4926] [INSPIRE].
- [19] G. Compere, J.I. Jottar and W. Song, Observables and Microscopic Entropy of Higher Spin Black Holes, JHEP 11 (2013) 054 [arXiv:1308.2175] [INSPIRE].
- [20] C. Bunster, M. Henneaux, A. Perez, D. Tempo and R. Troncoso, Generalized Black Holes in Three-dimensional Spacetime, JHEP 05 (2014) 031 [arXiv:1404.3305] [INSPIRE].
- [21] J. de Boer and J.I. Jottar, Thermodynamics of higher spin black holes in AdS<sub>3</sub>, JHEP 01 (2014) 023 [arXiv:1302.0816] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Gutperle and P. Kraus, *Higher Spin Black Holes*, *JHEP* 05 (2011) 022 [arXiv:1103.4304] [INSPIRE].

- [23] A. Castro, R. Gopakumar, M. Gutperle and J. Raeymaekers, Conical Defects in Higher Spin Theories, JHEP 02 (2012) 096 [arXiv:1111.3381] [INSPIRE].
- [24] J. de Boer and J.I. Jottar, Boundary Conditions and Partition Functions in Higher Spin AdS<sub>3</sub>/CFT<sub>2</sub>, arXiv:1407.3844 [INSPIRE].
- [25] H. Haber, Notes for the course on Mathematical Methods for Physics, University of Santa Cruz, CA U.S.A. (2011).
- [26] S. Datta, J.R. David, M. Ferlaino and S.P. Kumar, Higher spin entanglement entropy from CFT, JHEP 06 (2014) 096 [arXiv:1402.0007] [INSPIRE].
- [27] S. Datta, J.R. David, M. Ferlaino and S.P. Kumar, Universal correction to higher spin entanglement entropy, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 041903 [arXiv:1405.0015] [INSPIRE].
- [28] R. Callan, J.-Y. He and M. Headrick, Strong subadditivity and the covariant holographic entanglement entropy formula, JHEP 06 (2012) 081 [arXiv:1204.2309] [INSPIRE].
- [29] A.C. Wall, Maximin Surfaces and the Strong Subadditivity of the Covariant Holographic Entanglement Entropy, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 225007 [arXiv:1211.3494] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M. Headrick, Entanglement Renyi entropies in holographic theories, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 126010 [arXiv:1006.0047] [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Faulkner, The Entanglement Renyi Entropies of Disjoint Intervals in AdS/CFT, arXiv:1303.7221 [INSPIRE].
- [32] T. Hartman, Entanglement Entropy at Large Central Charge, arXiv:1303.6955 [INSPIRE].
- [33] J. Long, Higher Spin Entanglement Entropy, JHEP 12 (2014) 055 [arXiv:1408.1298]
   [INSPIRE].
- [34] J. de Boer, A. Castro, E. Hijano, J. Jottar and P. Kraus, work in progress.
- [35] T. Barrella, X. Dong, S.A. Hartnoll and V.L. Martin, *Holographic entanglement beyond classical gravity*, JHEP 09 (2013) 109 [arXiv:1306.4682] [INSPIRE].
- [36] T. Faulkner, A. Lewkowycz and J. Maldacena, Quantum corrections to holographic entanglement entropy, JHEP 11 (2013) 074 [arXiv:1307.2892] [INSPIRE].
- [37] B. Chen, J. Long and J.-j. Zhang, *Holographic Renyi entropy for CFT with W symmetry*, JHEP 04 (2014) 041 [arXiv:1312.5510] [INSPIRE].
- [38] E. Perlmutter, Comments on Renyi entropy in  $AdS_3/CFT_2$ , JHEP **05** (2014) 052 [arXiv:1312.5740] [INSPIRE].
- [39] P. Mathieu, D. Senechal, and P. di Francesco, *Conformal Field Theory*, Springer, Germany (1997).
- [40] J.B. Zuber, Notes for the course on Invariances in Physics and Group Theory, Université Pierre et Marie Curie, France (2013).